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M Positively Charming

October 31, 2018

The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Mebane, North Carolina is submitted for your review and
use. This report was prepared by the City’s Finance Department, and it is the comprehensive publication of the City’s
financial position and results of operations as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The City, like all other
local governments in the State, is required by state law to publish a complete set of financial statements within four
months of the close of each fiscal year. The financial statements must be presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a
firm of licensed certified public accountants. This report is published to fulfill that requirement for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018, and to provide further accountability to citizens and other interested parties by providing a
more comprehensive report in lieu of the minimum basic financial statement requirements.

City management is responsible for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the report.
To ensure reliability of the information, City management has established a comprehensive framework of internal
controls. Internal controls protect the City’s assets from loss, theft and misuse and provide reliable information for
the preparation of this report. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City’s
controls have been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements
are free of any material misstatements. As management, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial
report is complete, accurate and reliable in all material respects.

As noted earlier, the City is required by state law to have an annual independent financial audit. Stout, Stuart,
McGowen & King, LLP, conducted the audit and concluded in an unqualified (“clean”) opinion that the financial
statements present fairly in conformity with GAAP, in all material respects, the financial position and changes in
financial position for the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2018. The independent auditors’ report on
the basic financial statements is located at the beginning of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis of the basic financial statements (MD&A) immediately follows the
independent auditors’ report and provides a prescribed narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic
financial statements. The MD&A is designed to complement this letter of transmittal and should be read in
conjunction with it.

Profile of the City

The town was named for Brigadier General Alexander Mebane of the North Carolina Militia and a member of
Congress in the 1790's. In 1855, the railroad arrived and Mebane was incorporated in 1881 as the town of
Mebanesville. The name was officially changed to Mebane in 1883. The charter was amended to the City of Mebane
in February of 1987. Also in 1881, Mebane's industrial growth began with establishment of the former White
Furniture Company, followed by the Mebane Bedding Company (now Kingsdown) in 1904 and the Ridgeville
Telephone Company (now Centurylink Communications) in 1907.
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The City of Mebane is located in the Piedmont Triad Region of North Carolina, about 45 minutes west of Raleigh, the
State capital, and 20 minutes east of Greensboro, the State’s third largest city. The City has a land area of
approximately nine and three quarter miles, and a population of 13,592. Mebane is the third largest of ten
municipalities located on the eastern border of Alamance County. The City is located mostly in Alamance County,
with about 10% of it in Orange County.

The City is governed by the council-manager form of government. Policy making and legislative authority are vested
in the City Council, consisting of the mayor and five other members. The City Council is responsible, among other
things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring both the City’s manager and
attorney. The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, for
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City, and for appointing the heads of the various departments. Five
members of the City Council and the Mayor are elected to four year staggered terms. The Council then selects the
Mayor Pro-tem from within the Council membership.

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the maintenance of streets and other
infrastructure; planning and building inspections; solid waste and recycling services; water and sewer services;
recreational and cultural activities; and a library. In the 1970’s, the City of Mebane and the City of Graham began a
joint venture to develop a single water supply for both cities. This intergovernmental cooperation led to the creation
of the Graham-Mebane Lake, which supplies drinking water to both towns. The City of Graham operates the water
treatment plant and manages all lake operations with one-third of the costs historically paid by the City of Mebane
and two-thirds borne by the City of Graham. In FY15, Mebane entered into an agreement to increase to 50% its
share of the water capacity. In FY17, Mebane entered into an agreement to buy 21.43% of Graham’s sewer capacity.

The Mebane City Council is required to adopt a budget by July 1 of each year. The City is empowered to levy a
property tax on both real estate and personal properties located within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state
statute to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the
governing board. The City’s budget ordinance creates a legal limit on spending authorizations, and serves as the
foundation for Mebane’s financial planning and control. The budget is prepared by fund and department. The City
Manager is authorized by the budget ordinance to make transfers within funds to facilitate budget execution
consistent with Council intent.
Local Economy

Nationally, the economy remains in recovery from the downturn of 2008, with a reduction in unemployment and
continued slow growth in GDP, housing starts and major purchases amid uncertainty regarding global economic
growth and stability in the wake of the national election and potential impacts on both policy and the marketplace.
In North Carolina, residential investment and construction starts continue toward steady resumption of pre-
recession levels. Throughout the slow growth over the past five to ten years, Mebane has continued to lead the
county in homebuilding, and that trend is expected to continue. Inspections, permits and certificates of occupancy
issued in 2018 continued to demonstrate strong growth. Retail sales also continued improvement, boosted by local
consumer spending, a benefit of having a regional shopping destination like the Tanger Outlet.

Industrial development also continues in Mebane. Following on the recent years’ additions of Morinaga, Walmart
Distribution Center, Lidl Distribution Center and Prescient Companies, Lotus Bakeries expanded plans for the
construction of their new facility now under construction, and in FY18 Airgas USA selected Mebane for a new facility.
These facilities demonstrate Mebane’s prime location on the Interstate 85/40 corridor that links two of the fastest
growing metro areas on the East Coast. At one end, the Research Triangle Park region of Raleigh, Durham and
Chapel Hill; at the other, the Piedmont Triad region of Greensboro, Winston-Salem and High Point. The City of

Mebane is at the heart of this corridor, where the full resources of the region come together to create exceptional
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opportunities for expanding and relocating companies in the nationally recognized N.C. Industrial Center, the new
Buckhorn Economic Development Zone in Orange County, and the newly established North Carolina Commerce
Park. Boasting over 3,000 acres between these three development areas, Mebane is poised for economic growth.

Long-Term Financial Planning and Major Initiatives

The City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) outlines the major capital purchases and capital project
expenditures for the next five fiscal years while matching a conservative revenue source for payment. This document
also describes the impact of the capital expenditures on the General Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, and the City
finances as a whole. The City’s long-range plans are committed to maintaining a strong financial position while
providing the necessary capital improvements to continue its historically high level of services.

Major initiatives of the CIP include the continuation of improvements to the Graham-Mebane water plant necessary
to comply with drinking water regulations and maintain capacity for a growing community, extension of services to
the economic development zone, and the upgrade of the City’s wastewater facility. Sidewalks and street resurfacing
also continue to be priorities for the City, with a goal of resurfacing approximately two miles of streets annually to
maintain an average surface life-cycle of twenty years, and the City’s dedication to quality of life is reflected in the
CIP’s plans for parks, trails and other amenities, including the new City Park, under construction and opening soon.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the City of Mebane for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and
efficiently organized CAFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Mebane has received the award for
the last six years. We believe that our current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. We believe
that by participating in the GFOA’s Certificate of Achievement program, we will improve our transparency and
disclosure to the citizens of Mebane.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedicated efforts of the entire staff of the
Finance Department. We would like to express our appreciation to all members of the department who assisted and
contributed to the preparation of this report. Credit also must be given to the mayor and the City Council for their
unfailing support for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the City of
Mebane’s finances.

Respectfully submitted,

Dovid S, Check Jeanne D. Tate

David S. Cheek, CPA Jeanne D. Tate
City Manager Finance Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to an entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit , the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Mebane, North Carolina as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and
the cash flows, where appropriate, thereof and respective budgetary comparison for the General
Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, on pages 5 through 12, respectively, the Other
Postemployment Benefits’ Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios,
on page 58, the Local Government Employee’s Retirement System’s Schedules of the
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Contributions, on pages 53 and 54,
respectively, the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund’s Schedule of the
Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability on page 55, and the Law Enforcement Officers’
Special Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in Total Pension Liability and Total
Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 56 and 57, respectively be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a required
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquires of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
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information for consistency with management’s response to our inquires, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the City of Mebane, North Carolina. The
combining and individuals fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules as well as the
accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards, as required by Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the State Single Audit
Implementation Act, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part
of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, and other
schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America by us. In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above,
the combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules and the
schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
October 31, 2018 on our consideration of the City of Mebane’s internal control over financial
reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of the report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion in internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Stour Sueet M%owes € K06, LLP

Burlington, NC
October 31, 2018
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

As management of the City of Mebane, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview
and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. We encourage readers to
read the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the
City’s financial statements, which follow this narrative.

Financial Highlights

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Mebane exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $96,051,647 (net position).

e The government’s total net position increased by $7,639,659, due to increases in the government
type net position of $4,270,732 and increases in the business type activities net position of
$3,368,927.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Mebane’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $14,038,060, a decrease of $5,502,596 in comparison with the
prior year. Approximately 20.6 percent of this total amount, or $2,889,524, is nonspendable or
restricted.

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $7,563,514
or 43.2 percent of total general fund expenditures for the fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial
statements present two different views of the City through the use of government-wide statements and fund
financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental
information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the City of Mebane.

Required Components of Annual Financial Report (Figure 1)

Management Discussion and L .
. Basic Financial Statements
Analysis
Government-wide Financial . . Notes to the Financial
Fund Financial Statements
Statements Statements
Summary »  Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City’s financial status.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 8) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on the
activities of the individual parts of the City government. These statements provide more detail than the
government-wide statements. There are three parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the governmental
funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements; and 3) the proprietary fund statements.

The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements explain
in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, supplemental information is
provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary information required by the General
Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the
City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-wide
statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as a whole.

The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s financial
condition.

The government-wide statements are divided into two categories: 1) governmental activities and 2)
business-type activities. The governmental activities include most of the City’s basic services such as public
safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes and state and federal grant funds
finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the City charges customers to
provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of Mebane.

The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements (see Figure 1) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Mebane, like all other governmental entities
in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-
related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All of the funds of
the City of Mebane can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services are
accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash
flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.
Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting that
provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader
a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources
available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities (reported in the
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.

The City of Mebane adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes. The
budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the management
of the City, and the decisions of the Board about which services to provide and how to pay for them. It also
authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current period activities. The
budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City complied with the
budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as planned when the
budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is
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presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document. The statement
shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the board; 2) the final budget as amended by the
board; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4)
the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual resources and charges.

Proprietary Funds — The City of Mebane has one kind of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to report
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City of Mebane uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer activity. These funds are the same as
those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements — The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements begin on page 24 of this report.

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
includes certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Mebane’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information can be found
beginning on page 53 of this report.

Interdependence with Other Entities — The City depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated
with, both the Federal Government and the State of North Carolina. Because of this dependency, the City is
subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to Federal and
State laws and Federal and State appropriations.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis
City of Mebane’s Net Position (Figure 2)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016

Current and other assets
Non-current assets
Capital assets...

Total assets ..

.. $15,522,240 $20,507,235 $13,225,945 $10,496,254 $10,418,569 $ 8,751,643 $26,018,494 $30,925,804 $21,977,588

1,423,869 1,067,117 985,544 - - 1,423,869 1,067,117 985,544
50,868,231 41,460,779 40,481,349 47,102,743 44,525,626 41,959,132 97,970,974 85,986,405 82,440,481
67,814,340 63,035,131 54,692,838 57,598,997 54,944,195 50,710,775 125,413,337 117,979,326 105,403,613

Deferred outflows of resources......... 2,542,849 2,973,787 1,285,358 349,970 423,625 191,124 2,892,819 3,397,412 1,476,482

Long-term liabilities outstandin
Other liabilities

Total liabilities ..

17,934,946 17,234,704 9,530,427 10,051,529 10,653,861 8,332,263 27,986,475 27,888,565 17,862,690
2,325,823 1,418,694 1,348,205 1,281,467 1,227,886 772,998 3,607,290 2,646,580 2,121,203
20,260,769 18,653,398 10,878,632 11,332,996 11,881,747 9,105,261 31,593,765 30,535,145 19,983,893

Deferred inflows of resources..... 580,423 82,356 205,871 80,321 10,214 29,195 660,744 92,570 235,066
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets........ 40,610,954 30,319,096 34,801,671 38,122,626 34,527,281 34,178,396 78,733,580 64,846,377 68,980,067
Restricted 2,757,579 2,615,433 2,589,616 - 2,757,579 2,615,433 2,589,616

Unrestricted...........
Total net position...

- 6,147,464 14,338,635 7,502,406 8,413,024 8,948,578 7,589,047 14,560,488 23,287,213 15,091,453
.. $49,515,997 $47,273,164 $44,893,693 $46,535,650 $43,475,859 $41,767,443 $96,051,647 $90,749,023 $86,661,136

Note: 2016 Unrestricted Net Position have been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Mebane exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows
by $96,051,647 as of June 30, 2018. The City’s net position increased by $7,639,659 for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018. However, the largest portion (82.0%) reflects the City’s net investment in capital assets (e.g.
land, buildings, machinery, and equipment). The City of Mebane uses these capital assets to provide services
to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Mebane’s
net investment in capital assets is reported net of the outstanding related debt, the resources needed to
repay that debt must be provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities. An additional portion of the City of Mebane’s net position $2,757,579 (2.9%) represents resources
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of $14,560,488 is
unrestricted.

Page 7



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Several particular aspects of the City’s financial

operations positively influenced the total — Allocation of Net Assets
unrestricted governmental net position:

investment
e Continued diligence in the collection in capital
of property taxes by maintaining a tax assets

collection percentage of 99.70%, 82%
which compares favorably with the
statewide average of 98.78%.

e  Other taxes increased $263,848 which

included an increase in sales taxes of Restricted
$181,036. 3%
e  Water and sewer charges for services
increased by $184,394 due to an " icted
. . . nrestricte
increase in demand for these services. 15%
e A continued low cost of debt due to
the City’s high bond rating.
City of Mebane Changes in Net Position (Figure 3)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for Services......n $ 981,135 $ 995539 $ 1,107,648 S 6,676,309 $ 6,491,915 $ 7,399,492 S 7,657,444 $ 7,487,454 $ 8,507,140
Operating grants and contributions 934,764 574,891 448,823 - - - 934,764 574,891 448,823
Capital grants and contributions..... 3,380,460 639,266 972,045 2,508,340 465,220 1,376,780 5,888,800 1,104,486 2,348,825
General revenues:
Property taxes......ccceeveunineeeieincnns 10,279,056 9,751,487 8,859,077 - - - 10,279,056 9,751,487 8,859,077
Other taxes 4,563,646 4,299,798 4,188,891 - - - 4,563,646 4,299,798 4,188,891
Grants and contributions not
restricted to specific programs........ 3,050 3,050 12,509 - - - 3,050 3,050 12,509
Other 293,880 94,809 47,803 221,536 791,135 25,017 515,416 885,944 72,820
Total revenues..........cccecuerenierinnnennnns 20,435,991 16,358,840 15,636,796 9,406,185 7,748,270 8,801,289 29,842,176 24,107,110 24,438,085
Expenses:
General government. 2,227,259 2,023,497 2,058,889 - - - 2,227,259 2,023,497 2,058,889
Public safety 6,567,770 6,132,593 5,521,196 - - - 6,567,770 6,132,593 5,521,196
Public works 3,885,804 3,907,270 4,169,363 - - - 3,885,804 3,907,270 4,169,363
Economic development. 1,879,946 461,389 1,415,831 - - - 1,879,946 461,389 1,415,831
Culture and recreation. 1,301,845 1,195,553 1,288,321 - - - 1,301,845 1,195,553 1,288,321
Interest on long-term dep 300,632 174,166 156,676 - - - 300,632 174,166 156,676
Water and sewer. - - - 6,039,261 6,139,854 4,926,465 6,039,261 6,139,854 4,926,465

Total expenses.... 16,163,256 13,894,468 14,610,276 6,039,261 6,139,854 4,926,465 22,202,517 20,034,322 19,536,741

Increase in net position before
transfers and special item..

4,272,735 2,464,372 1,026,520 3,366,924 1,608,416 3,874,824 7,639,659 4,072,788 4,901,344

Transfers.. (2,003) 965,000 2,003 (965,000)
Special item.. - - - - - - - - -
Increasein net position.........ccccveuueeeee 4,270,732 2,464,372 1,991,520 3,368,927 1,608,416 2,909,824 7,639,659 4,072,788 4,901,344

Net position, July 1.... 47,273,164 44,893,693 42,422,887 43,475,859 41,767,443 38,791,045 90,749,023 86,661,136 81,213,932
Net position, restated 45,245,265 44,808,792 42,902,173 43,166,723 41,867,443 38,857,619 88,411,988 _ 86,676,235 _ 81,759,792

Net position, June 30........cccoeuruerinnnnc $49,515,997 $47,273,164 $44,893,693 $46,535,650 $43,475,859 $41,767,443 $96,051,647 $90,749,023 $86,661,136
Note: 2018, 2017, and 2016 Net Position have been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

Page 8



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Governmental activities: Governmental activities prior to transfers increased the City’s net position by
$4,272,735, thereby accounting for 55.9% of the total growth in the net position of the City of Mebane. Key
elements of this change in net position are as follows:

Revenues by Source - All Activities

e Property taxes increased by $527,569 over the
prior year.

e Other tax revenues increased by $263,848 over
the prior year.

e Charges for services decreased by $14,404 while

operating grants increased $359,873 and capital Capital

grants and contributions increased $2,741,194 grants and

over the prior year. contributions
20%

Business-type activities: Business-type activities prior to

transfers increased the City of Mebane’s net position by Operating
$3,368,927, accounting for 44.1% of the total growth in grants and
the government’s net position. Key elements of this contributions
change in net position as compared to the prior year are %

as follows:

e Charges for services increased $184,394 due to
an increase in demand for these services.
e Capital grants and contributions increased $2,043,120 due to growth in the City.

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City of Mebane uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal
Expenses by Function - All Activities requirements.

Governmental Funds: The focus
of the City of Mebane's
governmental funds is to provide
information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances
of wusable resources. Such
information is useful in assessing
Economic the City of Mebane’s financing

de‘"":;me“t requirements.

General cul d
government “"“"’;‘" The general fund is the chief
10% recrg;ton operating fund of the City of
Mebane. At the end of the
Interest on long- .

term dept current fiscal year, fund balance
1% available in the General Fund was

$9,391,514, while total fund balance reached Increase in Net Position - Governmental Funds

$12,197,410. The City currently has an available fund 4270732

balance of 53.66% of general fund expenditures, while

total fund balance represents 70.0% of the same

amount.

At June 30, 2018, the governmental funds of the City of $1,891,520

Mebane reported a combined fund balance of
$14,038,060, a 28.2% decrease from last year. This

2016
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decrease in fund balance is due to a decrease in the general fund of $1,287,168 combined with an overall
decrease in capital project and special revenue funds of $4,215,428.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights: During the fiscal year, the City revised the budget on several occasions.
Generally, budget amendments fall into one of three categories: 1) amendments made to adjust the
estimates that are used to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is available; 2)
amendments made to recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as Federal and State
grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services.

Revenues were more than the budgeted amounts primarily because tax revenue and permit and fees
revenues that the City originally had expected to receive were significantly more. Expenditures were held in
check to comply with its budgetary requirements.

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer fund at
the end of the fiscal year amounted to $8,413,024. The total increase in net position was $3,368,927.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets: The City of Mebane’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business—type
activities as of June 30, 2018, totals $97,970,974 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
buildings, roads, land, artwork and collections, machinery and equipment, park facilities, and vehicles.

Major capital asset transactions during the year include the following additions and disposals:

e Capital contributions in the general fund in the amount of $3,197,960 and in the water and sewer
fund in the amount of $2,508,340.

e Construction in progress in the governmental funds consisted of construction related expenses in
the City Park Project of $7,041,809, and for the 1% Street Park in the amount of $2,841. Expenses
related to upgrades to the City’s financial software totaled $71,530.

e Construction in progress in the Water and Sewer Fund of $39,306 for the Flood Wall/Levy and
$42,618 for the KENAF Study. Expenses related to upgrades to the City’s financial software totaled

$20,920.
City of Mebane’s Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (Figure 4)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Land $ 6,317,928 S 5,814,448 S 5814,448 S 178250 $ 82,789 $ 82,789 S 6,496,178 $ 5,897,237 $ 5,897,237
Artwork and collections.. 31,900 31,900 31,900 31,900 31,900 31,900

12,326,652 12,614,069 12,882,491 22,812,776 20,324,867 16,150,721 35,139,428 32,938,936 29,033,212
23,245,026 18,624,792 18,647,536 23,245,026 18,624,792 18,647,536
3,817,412 3,689,112 3,686,297

Buildings and systems....
Water and sewer systems....
Improvements other than buildings

3,817,412 3,689,112 3,686,297

Machinery and equipment.. 1,557,901 1,175,826 1,117,322 739,403 448,176 385,086 2,297,304 1,624,002 1,502,408
Computer equipment.. 177,875 126,186 126,782 - - 177,875 126,186 126,782
Infrastructure, 15,999,224 12,230,803 11,943,960 15,999,224 12,230,803 11,943,960

Vehicles and motorized equipment. 3,523,159 3,506,527 3,244,433 24,444 28,524 15,011 3,547,603 3,535,051 3,259,444
Construction in progress........c...ce..... 7,116,180 2,271,908 1,633,716 102,844 5,016,478 6,677,989 7,219,024 7,288,386 8,311,705

$50,868,231 $41,460,779 $40,481,349 $47,102,743 $44,525,626 $41,959,132 $97,970,974 $85,986,405 $82,440,481

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found on page 32 of this report.
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Long-term Debt: As of June 30, 2018, the City of Mebane had no bonded debt outstanding.
City of Mebane’s Outstanding Debt (Figure 5)

Governmental Activities Busi Type Activities Total

2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
General obligation bonds. $ - S - S - S - S 95,000 $ 215,000 S - S 95,000 $ 215,000
Notes payable..........oooeeve.... 10,257,277 11,141,683 5,679,678 4,459,195 4,869,335 5,272,472 14,716,472 16,011,018 10,952,150
Other long-term payables. - - 4,520,922 4,848,325 2,293,264 4,520,922 4,848,325 2,293,264
Compensated absences..... 406,303 374,627 402,155 65,051 56,747 67,349 471,354 431,374 469,504

5,235,446 3,304,672 2,748,999 799,290 503,769 426,132 6,034,736 3,808,441 3,175,131

2,035,920 2,413,722 699,595 207,071 280,685 58,046 2,242,991 2,694,407 757,641
L1 PO $17,934,946 $17,234,704 $9,530,427 $10,051,529 $10,653,861 $8,332,263 $27,986,475 $27,888,565 $ 17,862,690

The City of Mebane’s total debt increased by $97,910 (3.5%) during the past fiscal year, primarily due to new
debt for capital purchases of $431,873, increases in OPEB of $2,226,295, and decreases in pension obligations
of $451,416, netted with scheduled principal payments of $2,148,828 on bonds, notes, and other long-term
payables.

The City of Mebane has maintained a high bond rating at “AA+” with Standard and Poor’s Corporation. There
was no new general obligation debt issued in FY18, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services last review
affirmed the rating, with a stable outlook, on the general obligation (GO) bonds issued by the City of Mebane.
They stated that the rating reflects their opinion of the City’s favorable location, growing and diverse
property base, very strong finances and low direct debt. The City believes this speaks very highly of the
stability and sound management practices of the City of Mebane.

North Carolina general statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8 percent of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s
boundaries. The legal debt margin for City of Mebane is $154,137,370.

Additional information regarding the City of Mebane’s long-term debt can be found on page 45 of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The following key economic indicators reflect the growth of the City of Mebane:

e The City’s tax base continued to grow, by 12% or $163,985,109 in real property.

e Growth in the tax base of the City is expected to continue as a result of Mebane’s great location on
two major highways and between the Research Triangle and Piedmont Triad region.

e The area’s unemployment rate is dropping. Between Alamance County’s rate of 4.2% and Orange
County’s rate of 3.7%, the City of Mebane’s unemployment rate is well below the statewide average
of 4.2% at June 30, 2018.

e Continued industrial development and expansion at the N.C. Industrial Center (NCIC), at the new NC
Commerce Park, as well as Orange County’s new economic development efforts and utility
infrastructure improvements, will continue to boost the City’s tax base and employment
opportunities. The Walmart Distribution Center began operations in May 2016, and has exceeded
their target job figure of 450. The Lidl distribution center and Prescient Company both began
operations in their new facilities in FY17. GKN, Nypro and Cambro Manufacturing have undertaken
expansions, and Lotus Bakeries is under construction of their new facility in Mebane. Airgas USA
made plans to site their new facility in Mebane, along with some mixed use projects providing
additional retail and a new hotel under construction.

e Retail sales are expected to continue their strong performance from 2018. Tanger Outlets is
expected to sustain much of this growth.

e Renovation of the White’s Furniture building, completed in FY16, added 156 loft-style apartments to
the downtown area, and is near capacity. Construction of the new city park, under way and
expected to be complete in early FY19, is expected to further enhance Mebane’s vibrant downtown
community.
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e Other new housing starts are under construction, with both subdivisions and apartment
communities approved in FY18.

Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019

Governmental Activities: Revenues of the City are expected to increase by 4.8% for 2019, primarily due to an
increase in property taxes, along with sales and utility taxes. With revaluation increasing the City’s tax base
last year by 14%, and with an allowance for normal growth around 4%, the City retained an ad valorem tax
rate of $0.47 per $100 valuation. Retail sales are also expected to continue their strong growth from 2018.
The fee schedule for the FY19 budget adjusted some permits and fees in keeping with neighboring
communities, with the changes intended to cover the cost of providing the related services.

Budgeted operating expenditures in the General Fund are expected to increase by a net of about $978,000,
with the replacement of police vehicles and radios accounting for a large portion of the increase. The budget
includes $469,000 for new police radios, and $207,648 for police vehicles along with $30,000 for a space
needs study. The General Fund budget continues to reflect the allocation of administrative costs to the
Utility Fund, for a total of $577,901. Costs included to help manage the City’s growth include the addition of
one traffic officer in the Police Department, and three firefighters, with all positions to be added mid-year.
The budget includes operating costs for the new Park anticipated to open in the fall of 2018, including two
new employees and equipment. The Finance budget includes continued funding for contracting tax
collection to the counties, but is reduced for the expected completion of the accounting system project.

Most other departments are continuing existing services with no significant change beyond a 2% cost of living
adjustment for all employees and funding for merit-based pay. The budget splits Planning and Inspections
into separate departments. The City was able to retain medical insurance with no rate increase for FY19. The
City continues to maintain its commitment to improvements in roads, sidewalks and park facilities, reflected
in continuing allocations for ongoing maintenance of facilities and infrastructure improvements. Based on
construction schedules and anticipated milestones, economic incentives are reduced in the FY19 budget.

Business-type Activities: Revenue for water and sewer service is projected to increase by about 7.7%. The
increase is based on growth and the first rate increase in twelve years of around 5%. The adoption of System
Development Fees in lieu of connection fees is intended to provide funding for capital infrastructure, and
required the addition of a new capital reserve fund. The Utility budget is balanced with appropriated fund
balance of about $1.8 million, providing for a transfer of $500,000 to the Capital Fund. Operating
expenditures are much the same as prior year, with the provision for employee raises and the addition of a
mechanic at the Water Resource Recovery Facility. The City continues its commitment to funding for capital
maintenance of water and sewer lines, and for the provision of service to new areas with planned oversizing
of new development infrastructure. Capital expenditures planned for FY19 include the purchase of a boom
mower, design of the GKN reroute project, the second year of an inflow and infiltration study ($200,000), the
second year of a meter replacement project ($500,000) and design of a floodwall at the Water Resource
Recovery Facility. Other significant costs include continuation of debt payments, including anticipated first
year costs of $141,750 for financing the GKN Force Main Rerouting project and WRRF upgrades.

Request for Information

This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those with an interest in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or request for additional information should
be directed to:

Jeanne D. Tate

Finance Director

106 E. Washington Street
Mebane, NC 27302

(919) 563-5901
jtate@cityofmebane.com
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The Basic Financial Statements provide a dual perspective
summary overview of the financial position and operating
results of the government as a whole (government-wide
financial statements) and of all funds (fund financial
statements). They also serve as a condensed introduction to
the more detailed statements and schedules that follow.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2018 Exhibit 1
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets

Cash and cash eqUIValENtS........c.ccveeveeeeiieeeireceeceeere et S 12,848,235 $§ 9,227,258 S 22,075,493

Taxes receivables, (Net)......icc e e, 81,687 - 81,687

Accrued interest receivable on taXes.......cccceeeeevveeiiieiiiieeeee s 18,747 - 18,747

Accounts receivable (Net).......ccceeevciee i, 103,279 761,837 865,116

Due from other governments.........ccceeeeieeeecieeecciiee e 2,338,347 2,600 2,340,947

Prepaid iteMS.....ci et e 131,945 1,310 133,255

Y A g ot (=To [ oF= 1) s O 878,614 503,249 1,381,863
Notes receivable - Mebane Mill Lofts, LLC........cccoevuvereeeivcinveeneeennns 545,255 - 545,255
Capital assets (Note 2):

Land, non-depreciable improvements, and

CONSErUCTION IN PrOZIESS oviiieeiieeiieeeieiiee e eee e 13,466,008 281,094 13,747,102

Other capital assets, net of depreciation........cccceeeeveeevcveriiienens 37,402,223 46,821,649 84,223,872

Total capital @SSELS...ccivieiiiiee e 50,868,231 47,102,743 97,970,974
B o] 2= I T =] S PTRRPPRt 67,814,340 57,598,997 125,413,337
Deferred outflows of resources.......ccccceceereereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneenneennnnnns 2,542,849 349,970 2,892,819
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses..........ccceceeeeeieeeeiieeeenns 1,626,273 231,726 1,857,999

Accrued interest payable..........ccocoeiiiiiiiciieee e, 64,270 47,488 111,758

Due to other governmMeNts..........cccvvieeiieeeciiee e 6,433 499,004 505,437

Payable from restricted assets........cccceeevieeeciiieecciee e 628,847 503,249 1,132,096
Long-term liabilities:

Current portion of long-term liabilities..........cccccceevereeiiieeciirenne. 1,617,526 789,324 2,406,850

Net pension liability - LGERS.........cccoieiiiieeeiee et 1,461,050 207,071 1,668,121

Net pension liability - LEOSSA.........cooiiiiiieeeciee e 574,870 - 574,870

Due in more than ONe Year.......cccvevcieeeiiiee et eee e 14,281,500 9,055,134 23,336,634

Total long-term liabilities......cccccoveveeciiieiiie e, 17,934,946 10,051,529 27,986,475
Total llabilities.....eeeeerreennreeerteennnreierneennnreeereeennneeereeennnseeesssennnne 20,260,769 11,332,996 31,593,765
Deferred inflows of resources.........cccccceeriierrieeriieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneens 580,423 80,321 660,744
Net Position
Net investment in capital @ssets......c.ccecveeeeciiecciiee e 40,610,954 38,122,626 78,733,580
Restricted for:

Stabilization by State Statute.........ccccvveeeeiieeeciee s 2,673,951 - 2,673,951

(011 o T=T o {0 ot u o] o -3 83,628 - 83,628
(81T =T o g ot (=T RPN 6,147,464 8,413,024 14,560,488
Total Net POSILION....ccccceeeererrecereereerceeeereeeereeesseeeesaeeessaesesaeens S 49,515,997 $ 46,535,650 S 96,051,647

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Exhibit 2

Program Revenue

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

Operating Capital Grants
Charges for Grants & and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary government
Governmental activities
General government.........ccceeeveeveennnene. S 2,227,259 § 60,580 S - S - S (2,166,679) S - S (2,166,679)
Public safety......ccccvvevvieeiieeceeniiesieeieenn 6,567,770 19,941 227,721 - (6,320,108) - (6,320,108)
Public WOrkS.....cocvvivieenieinieeiee e 3,885,804 422,237 368,520 3,197,960 102,913 - 102,913
Recreation......cccceeveuvevieei e 1,301,845 87,018 5,450 - (1,209,377) - (1,209,377)
Economic & physical development........ 1,879,946 391,359 333,073 182,500 (973,014) - (973,014)
Interest on long-term debt.................... 300,632 - - - (300,632) - (300,632)
Total governmental activities................ 16,163,256 981,135 934,764 3,380,460 (10,866,897) - (10,866,897)
Business-type activities:

Water and SEWer.......cccuveveeecieesieenneenns 6,039,261 6,676,309 - 2,508,340 - 3,145,388 3,145,388
Total business-type activities................. 6,039,261 6,676,309 - 2,508,340 - 3,145,388 3,145,388
Total primary government...................... S 22,202,517 S 7,657,444 S 934,764 S 5,888,800 (10,866,897) 3,145,388 (7,721,509)

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes.........cccceeeeveeerveennne 10,279,056 - 10,279,056
SAlES TAXES. ceeiieeitiiee e e ettt e e e e e e e e e anraeaaaaean 3,304,401 - 3,304,401
FranChise taX.....occevceeriieiniieiie ettt 1,110,042 - 1,110,042
Privilege liCENSE TaX......ueeeiiiiiciiiiiee ettt e e e 1,005 - 1,005
EXCISE TAXuuutteiaurreeerireeeerireeesieeeesireeeesre e e snee e e s eessareeesnneessneeesnee 148,198 - 148,198
Grants & contributions not restricted to specific programs.......... 3,050 - 3,050
Unrestricted investment €arnings.......cccceeecveeevieeeecieeeccveeesieeens 129,302 28,295 157,597
MHSCEIIANEOUS. .....cevevvvereverereteeeeceeeeeseseses s e eseseseseseseseseseseseseseseseees 164,578 193,241 357,819
Total general revenues excluding transfers........cccccceeveeereereennnen. 15,139,632 221,536 15,361,168
TrANSTOIS. ..ttt e (2,003) 2,003 -
Total general revenues and transfers........cccoccveeeveeerereeecsseeessnnenes 15,137,629 223,539 15,361,168
Change in Net POSILION.....c.ceuereereererrersesreeseeseesessessessessesseseeseesenens 4,270,732 3,368,927 7,639,659
Net position - beginning , previously reported........cccccevveervieennenn. 47,273,164 43,475,859 90,749,023
RESTALEMENT. ... (2,027,899) (309,136) (2,337,035)
Net position - beginning , restated...........oovveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenenns 45,245,265 43,166,723 88,411,988
Net POSItioN - ENAING.....ceeeererrerrerrerieereeseeseeseesessessessessessessessessenes $ 49,515,997 $ 46,535,650 $ 96,051,647

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2018 Exhibit 3
Capital Project Total
Fund - City Total Non - Governmental
General Fund Park Project Major Funds Funds
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents.........ccccccevevciveeeiienens
Restricted cash......cocccieiiiiiice e
Taxes receivable, Net.......ueveeeeeeeeiiiiiiieieieeeeeeeeeen,
Receivable from other governments....................
Other receivables..........cccceeccvveicciee e,
Prepaid itemS....uueieee e

Total @SSets....ceuirirenieiennirreenierenneeeennierenneeeennerenns

Liabilties, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accounts payable.........ccccoiieeiiieei e,
Due to other governments.......ccocceevveerveenivenneen.
Payable from restricted assets..........cccceeecvveeenneen.

Total liabilities...ccccveeeiereeierennierieniereniereeneerennenes

Deferred inflows of resources.........cccceveevveeeenennn.

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

Prepaid assets....ccoveeecieeeeciee e

Restricted

Stabilization by State Statute........cccceeevveeennnn.
Economic development.........cccccovveeeeeeeciiieenennn.

Assigned

Subsequent year's expenditures..........ccccuuueeee..
UNAsSigNed......cceeeeeiiiiiieeeecciieee e

Total fund balances.......cccceeeeerrereeeiierneeeenreeeneennn.

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances........ccceeeeeerrreennnnnns

$ 10,470,171 $ 2,358,926 $ 19,138 $ 12,848,235
794,986 - 83,628 878,614
81,687 - - 81,687
2,338,347 - - 2,338,347
103,279 - - 103,279
131,945 - - 131,945

$ 13,920,415 $ 2,358,926 $ 102,766 S 16,382,107
1,005,231 621,042 - 1,626,273
6,433 - - 6,433
628,847 - - 628,847
1,640,511 621,042 - 2,261,553
82,494 - - 82,494
131,945 - - 131,945
2,673,951 - - 2,673,951

- - 83,628 83,628
1,828,000 1,737,884 19,138 3,585,022
7,563,514 - - 7,563,514
12,197,410 1,737,884 102,766 14,038,060

$ 13,920,415 $ 2,358,926 $ 102,766 S 16,382,107

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet (continued)

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

Exhibit 3

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position (Exhibit 1) are different because:
Total fund balance, governmental funds..........cccoooeeiiiiii i e
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Gross capital assets at historical cost
Accumulated depreCiation.........iccceie e

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not
reported iNThe FUNAS..... ..o e e e et e e anae e e s
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not
reported iNThe FUNAS..... ..o e e et e e aaae e e s
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are inflows of resources in the funds.
Accrued interest receivable 0N taXES......uivvieriierieirie sttt
NOTES FECEIVADIE. ..ottt st st e st e bt e e sbeesane

Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources
N FUNA SEATEMENTS...eiiiiee et e s sbe e e e sabeeeeaes
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not
reported iNThe FUNAS..... ... e e et e e aaae e e s
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not
reported iNThe FUNAS..... .. e et e e e e e aaae e e s
Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses
and therefore are not reported in the funds.
[N o =T o F= 17 | o L= RSN
ComMPENSALEd ADSENCES. ... .uviiiiieecieee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e sbbae e e e e eenanraes
Net pension liability - LGERS.........ciiiiieiciie ettt stee et e e eeae e e eaae e e snneeeens
Total pension liability - LEOSSA
OPEB liability....ccceeoeerrieiireieeccieesieeieens

Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds............ccccoeuunnneeee.

Net Position of Governmental ACtiVIties......cccccceeeerrreeeniieriieenniiieeieeensieeereeenssseeeseennnnes

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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S 14,038,060

63,050,587

(12,182,356) 50,868,231

2,488,424
54,425
18,746
545,255 564,001
81,687
(51,254)
(528,361)
(10,257,277)
(406,303)
(1,461,050)
(574,870)
(5,235,446)  (17,934,946)
(64,270)

S 49,515,997



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Exhibit 4
Capital Project Total
Fund - City Total Non- Governmental
General Fund Park Project Major Funds Funds
Revenues
ProPErty taXES....ucireeereeereireeteceesteesteeeesteeteseesreesaeeneas S 9,851,605 S - S - S 9,851,605
Other taxes and liCeNSeS.......uuuveeeeeeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee, 1,005 - - 1,005
Unrestricted intergovernmental..........ccccceeeeiinienenn. 4,866,039 - - 4,866,039
Restricted intergovernmental.........cccceeecveeiccieeccieen, 1,265,968 - - 1,265,968
Permits and fees.......ccccceeeieiiiiiiieeeeeecee s 411,580 - - 411,580
Sales aNd SEIVICES.....uuvviiiiiiiiiiiieieieeeeeeeeeeeeee s 462,033 - - 462,033
Investment arnings.........coeeeveeeeeeeeceieccccccees 47,386 77,622 4,294 129,302
MISCEIIANEOUS. ....evviiiieieieieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeece e 177,506 135,000 9,632 322,138
Total revenues..........cceeeeeeeeeeciniiiiiiiscssesnniiineeeseeeeeennnn 17,083,122 212,622 13,926 17,309,670
Expenditures
Current:
General government........ccccovveeeeeeeciiieee e 2,244,898 - - 2,244,898
Public safety.....cccoviiiieiecieeeee e 6,526,581 - - 6,526,581
PUBIIC WOTKS....cevviietieeecee e 3,400,679 - - 3,400,679
RECIEAtION....cvuiiiiiiceeee e 1,828,941 - - 1,828,941
Economic and physical development......................... 1,878,174 - - 1,878,174
Debt Service:
PrinCipal....ccc e 1,316,286 - - 1,316,286
Interest and other charges.......cccccecveeeeceeeccivee e, 306,592 - - 306,592
Capital oUtlaY.....c.ceeeciieecee e, - 5,710,491 29,495 5,739,986
Total EXpenditures.......ccccceeereemeeeciiernenenncceennennnnseeeneenas 17,502,151 5,710,491 29,495 23,242,137
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures..... (419,029) (5,497,869) (15,569) (5,932,467)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

TrANSTEIS IN.iiiieieiciccc v eeeeeees 212,399 1,512,411 - 1,724,810
Transfers out (1,512,411) - (214,401) (1,726,812)
Installment purchase obligations
(R UT=Tc IR 431,873 - - 431,873
Total other financing sources and uses.........cccccccuvuu... (868,139) 1,512,411 (214,401) 429,871
Net change in fund balances...........cccoceeeeiiieciieecnnennn. (1,287,168) (3,985,458) (229,970) (5,502,596)
Fund balances - beginning ........cccccovveiiiiiiiiiiieeeeenens 13,484,578 5,723,342 332,736 19,540,656
Fund balances - ending......cccccccerrervreeerierrreeeeeessneenens S 12,197,410 $§ 1,737,884 S 102,766 S 14,038,060

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Page 17



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (continued)

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Exhibit 4

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation
in the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized..........ccccceevcvveeeinnrennnee.
Depreciation expense for governmental assets.........cccceeveveeeercieresceeeescnneenn.
Cost of capital asset disposed of during the year, not recognized

on Modified aCCrual DasiS........ccvuviiiiiiiiiiiiee e

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal
year are not included on the Statement of Activities.........ccccvveeeiiieiininnnenn.
Benefit payments paid and administrative costs for
LEOSSA are deferred outflows of resources on the
Statement of ACHIVITIES. ... .ooviiriii i
OPEB benefit payments and administrative costs made
in the current fiscal year are not included on the
Statement Of ACHIVITIES....coovuiiiiiie e e
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Amount of contributed capital........cccccceevciieeciie e
Mebane Mills Lofts notes receivable principal receipts......cccccceeevvveeeeeeinnns
Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues.........cccovveeeeeecciieeeeceeccinnees

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
New long-term debt iSSUB........coocuiiiiiiiiiiiee e
Principal payments on long-term debt........ccooevviiiniiininiiieeeee e
Increase in accrued interest payable.......ccocvvvieiiiiiniiniien
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated abSENCES..........uuiei i
PENSION EXPENSE..cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee et r e erereeeeeeees
OPEB Plan @XPENSE.....uiiicueeeeiiiieeeiieeecteeeestteeeeeree e sreeessereeesneeeesnseeessnseeesnnnes
Total changes in net position of governmental activities ......ccccccceeeeerrnnnne.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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7,526,626
(1,276,231)

3,197,960
(9,632)
(29,108)

(431,873)
1,316,286
5,960

(31,677)
(12,456)
(431,237)

(5,502,596)

6,250,395

(40,906)

(66,505)

1,696

54,425

3,159,220

890,373

(475,370)

4,270,732



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Annual Budget to Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Exhibit 5

Variance with

Final Budget -
Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes................. $ 9,561,653 $ 9,561,653 S 9,851,605 S 289,952
Other taxes and licenses.............. 500 500 1,005 505
Unrestricted intergovernmental..... 4,969,643 4,969,643 4,866,039 (103,604)
Restricted intergovernmental...... 799,400 1,041,900 1,265,968 224,068
Permits and feS.....ccocuveieieiiii e 433,000 433,000 411,580 (21,420)
SalES AN SEIVICES....cciiieeetrrreeieee et 405,450 405,450 462,033 56,583
INvestmMeNt @arnings........ccooviieiiiiieeeeriee e 12,000 12,000 47,386 35,386
MiSCEIIANEOUS.....ciitiiiieiiiie ettt 129,500 129,500 177,506 48,006
TOtal FEVENUES.....ceeeeiiireciiieeeeerieeeieereeaeeerenneseseennessessnnens 16,311,146 16,553,646 17,083,122 529,476
Expenditures
Current:
General BOVEIMMENT.....c.vecieeeee e eeeeeee e e see e 2,677,774 2,690,006 2,244,898 445,108
PUBIIC SAftY..ciiiiieciieciieciee e 7,039,431 7,000,520 6,526,581 473,939
Public works..... 3,892,894 4,381,494 3,400,679 980,815
Recreation......ccccvveeevcieeeicciieeecciieeees 1,373,484 2,230,939 1,828,941 401,998
Economic and physical development.........ccccccvevvveneeenennn, 1,986,616 2,313,963 1,878,174 435,789
Debt Service:
[ A Ta Yo T o - | RN 1,275,260 1,318,448 1,316,286 2,162
Interest and other charges.. . 305,541 309,536 306,592 2,944
Total expenditures.......cccceeeiiiiiriinneennenneeeiniiieniiisessnnsssseeee 18,551,000 20,244,906 17,502,151 2,742,755
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures............... (2,239,854) (3,691,260) (419,029) 3,272,231
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
TrANSTRIS INuuviiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt eeabe e e e eaaeeeeennes - 212,398 212,399 1
TrANSTEIS OUL.uueeiiiiiiiiiicteeeeee et e e e e e e - (1,877,411) (1,512,411) 365,000
Long-term debt obligations issued..........ccccceevviiieiiiiiieeennnn, 436,000 436,000 431,873 (4,127)
Fund balance appropriated........cccccceveveriierceneieeeee e, 1,803,854 4,920,273 - (4,920,273)
Total other financing sources and uses 2,239,854 3,691,260 (868,139) (4,559,399)

Net change in fund balances S -

Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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(1,287,168) $ (1,287,168)

13,484,578
$ 12,197,410



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018 Exhibit 6
Water and
Sewer Fund
Assets
Current assets:
(07 1 g = Yo o Ior= 1Y g =To (A= =T o S S 9,227,258
Accounts receivable (Net) - DIE........ocuii ettt e et e e e are e e 523,261
Accounts receivable (Net) - UNDIE........c.uei e e 238,576
Due from other governments 2,600
Prepaid items.....cccccevvvevcveeerrnenn. 1,310
Restricted cash 503,249
B o] = eV €] 0 A Y=L ST TR PTURPRN 10,496,254
Non-current assets:
Capital assets:
Land and other NoN-depreciable @SSets.........uviiiii i 281,094
Other capital assets, Nnet of dePreCiation............uiiiie i e e e e raeees 46,821,649
oL €= e o 11 = | B T =L R 47,102,743
o) = N g e oAU [ =] oL A= Ty =] £SO 47,102,743
Total assets 57,598,997
Deferred OULFIOWS Of F@SOUICES.....civuiireeiiienirreneiereneesreneierensessenessressssssssssrenssssssssssanssssssssssanssssnnns 349,970
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued llabilities. ... e 231,726
Accrued interest PAYabIE..........uei e e e et e e e naes 47,488
DUE t0 Other GOVEIMMENTS. ..cccceiiiieee ettt ettt e e e et te e e e e e e abaa e e e e eesnateeeeessenasaseeaasesnnnees 499,004
Payable from restricted @SSELS......uuiiiiiiiiiiieeeciieecctee et e e st e e e e e et e e e e aae e e eneaeesnraeeaas 503,249
ComMPENSALEA ADSENCES.......eviiiieeeieeee et e e e e et e e e e e e e e bbeeeeeeeesataeeeaeeeessraeaeeeanns 44,782
Long-term debt - current 744,542

General obligation bonds payable - current
B o) = o0 g1 o T o 1L =P 2,070,791

Noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 20,268
Net PENSION [ADIITY ..o e e e e e e e et e e e e e e s aaeaeeaeeesnaaeas 207,071
TOtal OPEB liability.....ceiieieeeeiiie ettt e e e et e e et e e st e e e sataeesessaeesnnaeaesnsseanan sennnns 799,290
Long-term debt - noncurrent.......ccccoeeecciieeee e, 8,235,576
General obligation bonds payable - noncurrent -
Total NONCUITENT [IADIITIES. c.ceviiieiiiiieieieee bbb e e e e e e e e eeeeeeaeeeas 9,262,205
TOtal labilitieS.ccuuee it r e e ee e s re e e e e seennsseeeseeensssssseeennssssssesnnnsssssseennnssssseennnnnnn 11,332,996
Deferred infloWSs Of F@SOUICES.........coiiieeenieiiieecceerrreceeee e s e renese e s eeenassesesseenassssseseennssssssseennnsnsnnnn: 80,321
Net Position
Net investment iN CaPItal @SSELS......uuiiiii it e e e e tre e e e e e e abre e e e e e eenbaeeeaeeennns 38,122,626
(01T T g Lot =T IO ST PRPP 8,413,024
TOtAl NET POSITION....eeeieiiireeeieiireeeteerreeeeeerreeeeeesrneeeeesssseeesesssneeeesssansesessssaneesssssssessssssnsasessssnnsenens S 46,535,650

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Exhibit 7
Water and

Operating Revenues

(0T = LT o T =T oV ol TSR
Water @Nd SEWET TAPS...ueiieiiieiiiiiee e e eceite e e e ee ettt e e e e e eestar e e e e e e e baeeeeeeeesassbeseeeeeanansseeseaesnnses
(00T Y Y=o a o] oI =TT SRR
Y FYol= 1 = T o T T PR

Total Operating reVeNUES.........ceueeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinirrersssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnnnnees

Operating Expenses

Fi¥e [ 011 1] A =Y d o o OSSP SUTR
Distribution and MainteNANCE......c..iiiieiee et e e e e rre e e rare e e e ereeeenes
Waste collection and Maint@NanCe..........cceoeiiiiiiiiieiceieee e e e e e e ebrae e e e e ennnees
(D7 o1 Yol F- | 4 o o U

Total OPerating EXPENSES.....ccvveiiiiiirntriiersnretiissssnsessssssnnessssssssessssssssessssssassssssssansasssssns

Operating iNCoME (10SS)...ccciiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeriiiiiiiieiessistirieeeeeeeeeesesesssnnssssssssssssssssssssssssss

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

INterest and iINVESTMENT FEVENUE. ........ccoieiireeeeeeeectreeeeeeeecrrree e e eesebaereeeeeesnrreeeeeesesrreaeeeens

[N R =) ] o= o LY SO PP PP T PP PPN
AMOrtization Of DONAS.......coociiiiiiiie e e e e st e e e e eaeeenes

Total nonoperating revenues (EXPENSES).......ccceeereerreeereeesrereeseesseesssesssnesssssssnesssssssnnens

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers.........ccccvvereciee e
Capital CONTIIDULIONS. ..ot e e e e e tae e e e e e e e nraeeeaaean
TrANSERIS TNttt sttt et e sb e e et st e e s bt e e b e e st e e sate e sate e bt e s beesbeenaee s
TrANSTEIS OUL..eieiuiieiiieiie ettt sttt sa et e sb e st e s be e s be e s be e sabeesbbeenbeesabeesaeeenneas
Change iN NET POSITION......uii i e e s e e e ta e e snae e e sereeeensaeeennnees
Total net position, previously reported........coocieeeee i

RESTAEMEBNT. .. e e s e e e e s nne e e e
Total net PoSition - reStAted........ueeieiiie e s

Total net Position - @NAING.......cccueuuueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirrrrrrrrsssssssssssssssssssnns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Sewer Fund

$ 5,547,280
120,654
696,140
312,235

6,676,309

863,028
2,447,617
1,292,737
1,268,489
5,871,871

804,438

28,295
193,241
(165,426)
(1,964)
54,146

858,584

2,508,340
2,003

3,368,927
43,475,859

(309,136)
43,166,723

$ 46,535,650



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Exhibit 8

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash received fromM CUSTOMEIS. ....ccuiiiieeiierieerieee ettt sbe e saae e
Cash paid for 200ds aNd SEIVICES........uiiiiiieiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e aaraeee s
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for SErvices........coovmrviirirciee i
Customer depoSits FECEIVEM. ........eiii ittt e e e e e sere e e e e s eesanaaeeeeeeeanes
Customer deposits FETUMNNEd.........ciicuiieieciiie e cee et e e e e s e e et e e eneee e sraeeeas
Other OPErating FEVENUES......cccuviieeiieeecteeeceteeeertee e e eee e e s e e e e taeeeensaeessseeessreeeeseaeesnseeanns

Total cash provided (used) by operating activities.........ccccccceererririiiceccssssnneeeeenenssseennns

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Other NON-0PEratiNG FEVENUES.....cccieciiieeee ettt e ettt e e e ee e e e e e e e esatr e e e e e e e araaeeeeeesnees

Transfers from OTher fUNAS........ueiei i e ebrr e e e e eanres
Transfers t0 OTher fUNAS........uvviii it e e e e saarae e e e e e e eannaees

Total cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities............ceceeviiininiiniinnnnnnes

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital assets........ccccueeieiiiciiiiiee e,
Principal paid on bonds and notes payable...........ccccueeiiiiiecci e
Interest paid on bonds and Notes Payable.......cccueeeiee e
Total cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities.............ccccevviennnns

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

INVESEMENT INCOM@ .. et e e e s e e e s e e e e e
Total cash provided (used) by investing activities........ccccceeerrriiiiiiiiiiiiiiinniiiiininnneeeeennnee.

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equiValeNnts.........c.ceeecveeeeiiii e
Balance, beginning restated.........cccceiiiiiie et e et
L= 21 T Tl =T = 4 o T3V PPN

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water and
Sewer Fund

$ 6,361,171
(3,053,675)
(2,001,801)

112,715
(74,765)
312,234

1,655,879

193,241
2,003

195,244

(102,116)
(832,542)
(135,142)
(1,069,800)

25,280
25,280

806,603
8,923,904
S 9,730,507



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Exhibit 8

Water and
Sewer Fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

OPErating INCOME (I0SS)..ueiiuiieieiiie it e ectieeeectee e rte e ettt e e et e e e ste e e e sataeeeessaeessseeasnsseesanseeessnseeeassseseanes S 804,438
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
(D T=T o ¢ To T} [0 o FO TP PPROPPPRPPP 1,268,489
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable..............ccc......... 7,204
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (10,107)
(Increase) decrease in PrePaid itEMS.........viicciii e e e ae e e et eeenreeesanneas (1,310)
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources for pensions...........ccccceeeeciiieeeieecciieeeennn. 73,655
Increase (decrease) accounts Payable.........cooooiiiiiiii e e e (521,392)
Increase (decrease) salaries Payable......... . 5,771
Increase (decrease) accrued VacCatioN.........cccuieiiiiieeiiie e i ettt ettt e e et e e e etre e e e eaaeeeeaneeas 8,303
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability (73,614)
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for pensions..........cccccoveeeeiieeccieececvee e, (3,960)
Increase (decrease) in OPEB li@bility.......cccccueveieiieeciie e (13,615)
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for OPEB...........ccceeeciiiiiiiiieeciieeeciee e, 74,067
Increase (decrease) in CUStOMEr AEPOSITS. ....ccviiiiciuiiieiiee et et ettt et e et e et e e 37,950
Lo €= =T |10 1 41T S PRPS 851,441
Net cash provided by operating activities..........cceeeeeumuuuiiiiisiiiiiiiiiinnsn S 1,655,879
Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
Noncash capital contributions of fiXed @SSEtS........ceciviiiieiiiiiriee e e S 2,508,340
Unrealized gain/l0Ss 0N iNVESTMENTS........cuiiiiiieiiiciee ettt et re e s ae et e e reesabe e s abeereeenrs S -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Mebane conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Mebane is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a five-member
council. The City is located in the eastern part of Alamance County and the western part of Orange
County. Generally accepted accounting principles require that these financial statements present the
primary government (i.e. the City) and any component units, legally separate organization for which the
elected officials of the City are financially accountable. The City of Mebane has no component units as
defined above.

B. Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government. These statements include the financial activities of the
overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been
made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds.
Separate statements for each fund category — governmental and proprietary — are presented. The
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in
a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as
nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies, result from
non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such as investments
earnings.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund accounts for
all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, federal and State grants, and various other taxes and licenses.
The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, and general
government.

City Park Project Capital Project Fund: This fund is used to account for the purchase of land and
construction costs for a new athletics and recreation city park.
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The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:

CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft — Special Revenue Fund: This fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns Building into subsidized housing.

White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation Capital Project Fund: This fund is used to account expenditures
necessary to relocate the storm drain leading to the apartment complex being constructed in the former
White Furniture manufacturing factory location.

Impact Alamance Grant — Special Revenue Fund: This fund is used to account for Impact Alamance
Grant funds expended for small equipment and capital outlays for recreation purposes.

The City reports the following major enterprise fund:
Water and Sewer Fund: This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the year
using the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements: The government-wide and proprietary
fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the
City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include
property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in
the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The City also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to
the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements: Governmental funds are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have
matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing
sources.

The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except for
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not
susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are materially
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past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of the current
year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection
of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law,
the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor
vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts, including the City of Mebane. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which
they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for
limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are offset by
deferred inflows of resources.

Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as utilities franchise tax, collected and held by
the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a
shared revenue for the City of Mebane because the tax is levied by Alamance County and Orange County
and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and sales and
services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash.
All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general revenues rather than
program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a
combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus,
when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to
finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general revenues.

D. Budgetary Data

The City’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget is
adopted for the General Fund and the Enterprise Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal year-
end. Project ordinances are adopted for the Special Revenue Funds and the Capital Projects Funds and
the Enterprise Capital Projects Funds. The enterprise fund projects are consolidated with the operating
funds for reporting purposes. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted
funds and at the object level for the multi-year funds. Amendments are required for any revisions that
alter total expenditures of any fund or that change functional appropriations. All amendments must be
approved by the governing board. During the year, several amendments to the original budget were
necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity

Deposits and Investments

All deposits of the City are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required by
State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association
whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City may establish time deposit accounts
such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.

State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United State or obligations
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States; obligations of the State of North
Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority; obligations of
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers’
acceptances and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City’s investments are
reported at fair value. Non-participating interest earning contracts are accounted for at cost. The
NCCMT Government Portfolio, a SEC-registered (2a-7) external investment pool, is measured at
amortized cost, which is the NCCMT’s share price. The NCCMT- Term Portfolio’s securities are valued at
fair value.
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In accordance with State law, the City has invested in securities which are callable and which provide for
periodic interest rate increases in specific increments until maturity. These investments are reported at
fair value as determined by quoted market prices.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize
investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand deposits and are
considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Assets

Customer deposits held by the City before any services are supplied are restricted for which the deposit
was collected. Contractor reserves and bond deposits received and held are classified as restricted cash.
Grant proceeds received in advance for specified purposes are classified as restricted cash. Unexpended
loan principal and interest receipts in the CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund is classified as
restricted assets because its use is restricted for future economic development per an agreement with
the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash, if
applicable, because they can be expended only for the purposes of maintaining, repairing, constructing,
reconstructing or widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4.

City of Mebane Restricted Cash
Governmental Activities
General Fund

Contractor reserves and bond depoSits.....ccciirecerineienerereeere e S 628,847
ASSE fOrfRITUIE FUNDS ..ottt e s 166,139
CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Capital Project Fund
ECONOMIC DEVEIOPMENT......ccieieteieeeeteteteeetete ettt et er e b b sre e bans 83628
Total governmental aCtiVities.....ccoccieceieecirecceee ettt __ 878614

Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Fund

CUSTOMEr AEPOSTES .eivirieeieriirtiiee ettt sa et b et e e sa e sesaene _ 503,249
Total business-type activities.... 503,249
TOtal RESEIICIE CAS vttt ettt ssa s st e s ses s st snans $ 1,381,863

Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem taxes on
property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on
September 1 (lien date), however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2017. As allowed by State law, the City has established
a schedule of discounts that apply to taxes that are paid prior to the due date. In the City’s General
Fund, ad valorem tax revenues are reported net of such discounts.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were
written off in prior years.

Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City’s enterprise fund consist of expendable materials and supplies that are
expensed when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are
used.
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Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a

certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Minimum capitalization costs are $5,000
for all items. Donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair
value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at
acquisition value. All other purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment in the proprietary fund of the City are recorded at original cost at the
time of acquisition. The City capitalizes those interest costs which are incurred during the construction
period of any major capital projects. Property, plant, and equipment donated to the proprietary fund
type operations are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lives

[0l = E A U o1 40| T PSPPSRt
Buildings..............
aa] o] fo)V7=T 4 aT=] o) &3 P PP PP P PP PP PP PP
VBNICIES ..ttt ettt sttt st e st st e e st e e bt e s a b e e be e e bt e e be e sbeenas sareenees
Furniture and equipment ..
(0o ] o 10N =T ot =T TUT] o0 0 =T o | PRt

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of
Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has two items that meet this criterion,
pension deferrals for the 2018 fiscal year and unamortized bond and refunding costs for Water and
Sewer debt. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of
Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as revenue until then. The City has several items that meet the criterion for this category —
prepaid taxes, property taxes receivable, and pension deferrals.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the
bonds using the straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premiums or discount.

In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Compensated Absences

The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to 240 hours of earned vacation leave
with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the City’s government-wide and proprietary funds,
an expense and a liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as

Page 28



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2018

the leave is earned. The City has assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated
time.

The City’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does
not vest. Since the City does not have any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually
taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made.

Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position

Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints
on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or imposed by law through state statute.

Fund Balance

In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of classifications designed to
disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.

The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Prepaid Assets — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it represents the
year-end balance of prepaid assets, which are not spendable resources.

Restricted Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.

Restricted for Stabilization by State Statute — portion of fund balance that is restricted by State
Statue [G.S. 159-8(a)].

Restricted for Economic Development — portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source
for future community development related activities. This amount represents the balance of the
total unexpended funds from the amortized repayments of the CDBG monies loaned to Mebane
Mills Lofts, LLC.

Assigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that the City intends to use for specific purposes.

Subsequent year’s expenditures — portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves the
appropriation; however the budget ordinance authorizes the budget officer to modify the
appropriations by resource or appropriation within funds without limitation. Any transfer between
funds must be approved by the governing board in the budget ordinance as amended.

Unassigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
to specific purposes or other funds. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General
Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report positive unassigned fund balance but can report negative
unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned to those purposes.

The City of Mebane has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple
revenue sources. The Finance Officer will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds,
federal funds, State funds, local non-city funds, city funds. For purposes of fund balance classification,
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Officer has the authority
to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the City.
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The City of Mebane has adopted a fund balance policy that instructs management to conduct the
business of the City in such a manner that unrestricted fund balance is 50% of annual budgeted
expenditures and transfers. Any portion in excess of 50% may be set aside for future capital
improvements or to other purposes as directed by the City Council.

Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from
LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS.
For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due. The City of Mebane’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the City of Mebane has
a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.

For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions to/deductions from
FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

F. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Detail Notes on All Funds
A. Assets

Deposits
All the deposits of the City are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the

Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. Under the Pooling Method,
which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State
Treasurer’s agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary
capacity for the City, these deposits are considered to be held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. The
amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest bearing
deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories using the Pooling
Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured
deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City or the escrow agent.
Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the City under the
Pooling Method, the potential exists for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of
high cash flows. However, the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial
stability for each depository that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has
no formal policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce
standards of minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official depositories
and verifying that deposits are properly secured.
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At June 30, 2018 the City’s deposits had a carrying amount of $18,032,183, and a bank balance of
$18,221,413. Of the bank balance, $753,478 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. Petty cash on hand at June 30,
2018 was $475.

Investments
At June 30, 2018, the City’s investment balances were as follows:

Valuation
Measurement Book Value at
Investments by Type Method 6/30/2018 Maturity  Rating
Commercial Paper - Natixis NY Brh DisC.....cceceevvuevereennnne. Fair Value Level 2§ 1,185,480 12/26/2018 Al
Commercial Paper - JP Morgan Secs LLC DisSC....cccvurvnnee. Fair Value Level 2 1,178,417 3/15/2019 Al
NC Capital Management Trust - Government Portfolio.... Amortized Cost 2,039,673 N/A AAAM
NC Capital Management Trust - Term Portfolio................. Fair Value Level 1 1,021,128 1 year Unrated
Total $ 5424698

All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of assets.

Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a matrix
pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ benchmark quoted
prices.

Interest Rate Risk. The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk. As a means of
limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s internal investment
policy limits at least half of the City’s investment portfolio to maturities of less than 12 months. Also, the
City’s internal management policy requires purchases of securities to be laddered with staggered
maturity dates and limits all securities to a final maturity of no more than two years.

Credit Risk. The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management procedures
that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the purchase of securities
to the highest possible ratings whenever particular types of securities are rated. State law limits
investments in commercial paper to the top rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations (NRSROs). As of June 30, 2018, the City’s investments in commercial paper were rated Al
by Standard & Poor’s and P1 by Moody’s Investors Service. The City’s investment in the NC Capital
Management Trust Government Portfolio carried a credit rating of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s as of June
30, 2018. The City’s investment in the NC Capital Management Trust Term Portfolio is unrated. The
Term Portfolio is authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. government and agencies, and in high
grade money market instruments as permitted under North Carolina General Statutes 159-30 as
amended.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The City’s Council places no limit on the amount that the City may invest in
any one issuer. More than 5 percent of the City’s investments are in Nataxis NY’s commercial paper and
in JP Morgan Securities commercial paper. These investments are 21.85% and 21.72%, respectively of the
City’s total investments.

Receivables — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The amount of taxes receivable presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position
includes penalties levied and outstanding in the amount of $6,359.
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The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position for the year ended June
30, 2018 are net of the following allowances for doubtful accounts:

Funds
General Fund:

TaXeS RECEIVADI ...ttt

Accounts Receivable...

11,164

11,164
176,695

187,859

Capital Assets
Primary Government

Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:

Beginning _Ending
Governmental activities: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
LaNd. ittt S 5,814,448 S 503,480 S - $ 6,317,928
Artwork and collections.... 31,900 - - 31,900
Construction in Progress.....cceveeveeeeerererennns 2,271,908 7,116,181 2,271,909 7,116,180

Total capital assets not being depreciated... 8,118,256 7,619,661 2,271,909 13,466,008
Capital assets being depreciated:

BUITAINGS ..o 15,727,368 - - 15,727,368
Other improvements.......cococeceveveereereereseeeeennns 4,415,161 226,341 - 4,641,502
EQUIPMENT...c.iiieieiirieeeee et 2,400,758 554,123 12,053 2,942,828
Computer equipment......ccoceevvevvenenenne 278,140 69,403 - 347,543
Vehicles and motorized equipment... 7,948,093 483,409 397,005 8,034,497
INFrastrUCtUre. ...t 13,847,284 4,043,558 - 17,890,842
Total capital assets being depreciated.......... 44,616,804 5,376,834 409,058 49,584,580
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BUITAINES e vereevereerereerere e seseesesesseseeresessesesseneenseees 3,113,299 287,417 - 3,400,716
Other improvements........ccoeeveveeereereeeseseeeneenns 726,049 98,041 - 824,090
Equipment.......ccccenuneen. 1,224,932 170,844 10,849 1,384,927
Computer equipment...... 151,954 17,714 - 169,668
Vehicles and motorized equipment... 4,441,566 427,078 357,306 4,511,338
INfrastructure......cceveveereveecenreneeeerennen 1,616,481 275,137 - 1,891,618
Total accumulated depreciation.........ccceueune. 11,274,281 51,276,231 $§ 368,155 12,182,357
Total capital assets being depreciated, net... 33,342,523 37,402,223
Governmental activity capital assets, net........... $ 41,460,779 $50,868,231
Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:
GENEral BOVEIMMENT . ..iii ittt et e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e seaaebeeeeeeeeesaraeeeaaaann S 48,030
PUDIIC SAIOEY ..ot ettt e e et e e et e e e et e e e e ate e e enneas 491,429
PUDBIIC WOTKS ...ttt e e st e e e e e e st b e e e e e e eeesaabaeeseeesesaseres 593,176
4o <=1 4 (o] TSP RPPRPRRRR 143,596
Economic & physical developmMeNT........c.ueeiciiiii e e e -
1) = | $1,276,231

Business-type Activities

The fixed assets of the Enterprise Fund for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:
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Beginning Ending
Water and Sewer Fund: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
(152 0 Lo FO OO S 82,789 S 95461 S - § 178,250
Construction in Progress.... e eeceneeveenenenenne 5,016,478 440,508 5,354,142 102,844
Total capital assets not being depreciated....... 5,099,267 535,969 5,354,142 281,094
Capital assets being depreciated:
[IE=Y={oTo] o SRS PR SRS PRSPPI 25,828 - - 25,828
Lake Michael and dam......c.ccocevveeiveececcicecene 265,900 - - 265,900
Ownership interest in the Graham/Mebane
Water RESEIVOIT...ieeeeeceecee e 11,430,754 2,528,999 - 13,959,753
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks....... 8,704,868 564,708 - 9,269,576
Water and sewer liNeS......ccooeeeeeeecvereeveneennenns 26,153,423 4,742,873 - 30,896,296
Land improvements........cccceeveeevieeneveneceseneenens - 399,466 - 399,466
Waste treatment plant & maintenance
DUITAINGS e 8,291,219 51,993 - 8,343,212
Machinery and equipment........cccoceveveveenerennennn. 881,296 375,740 - 1,257,036
VENICIES ..ttt sttt st eae e 420,449 - - 420,449
Total capital assets being depreciated.............. 56,173,737 8,663,779 - 64,837,516
Less accumulated depreciation for:
17,327 516 - 17,843
265,900 - - 265,900
Ownership interest in the Graham/Mebane
Water RESEIVOIT ...ttt 2,971,940 222,084 - 3,194,024
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks....... 2,167,827 229,454 - 2,397,281
Water and sewer lines......ccooeeeeeeeeceeveeceneeneenns 7,537,132 554,373 - 8,091,505
Land improvements.........cccoeeeeeeeeeerevesecessenienens - 3,995 - 3,995
Waste treatment plant & maintenance
DUITAINGS ..o 2,962,207 169,474 - 3,131,681
Machinery and equipment... 433,120 84,513 - 517,633
LY =] a1 =S 391,925 4,080 - 396,005
Total accumulated depreciation........cceeevevenee. 16,747,378 $1,268,489 S - 18,015,867
Total capital assets being depreciated, net....... 39,426,359 46,821,649
Business-type activity capital assets, net................ $44,525,626 $47,102,743

Construction Commitments

The government has active construction projects as of June 30, 2018. At year end, the government’s

commitments with contractors are as follows:

Project Spent to Date Remaining Contract
Alleyway N 3rd & N Ath....cccieiiriieieneeereeeeeeeeeseeeene S 17,199 $ 12,801
Barn Repairs at Cates Farm......coeevevienieneccecsenceeseeseeeeseens - 21,600
Green Street Water Line Replacement.........ccoccveeeeeviececieeenens 9,546 72,974
Byrd's Pump Station.......cceveneeeneneeccennenen 11,000 100,500
Engineering & Design - WRRF Floodwall 39,305 9,695
CILY ParKe et 5,736,253 3,083,459
TOTA e S 5,813,303 $ 3,301,029
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B. Liabilities

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System

Plan Description. The City of Mebane is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general employees and
local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities. Article 3 of G.S.
Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of
13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by
the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-
officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included in the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be
obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North
Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.Nnc.gov.

Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A
member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at
age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age
with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at
age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service (age 55 for
firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of
creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue squad
members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have reached age
60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases.
Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.

LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed
20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have
reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55, or
have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty. Eligible beneficiaries
may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s
contributions.

Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Mebane employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the LGERS
Board of Trustees. The City of Mebane’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June
30, 2018, was 18.75% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 18.00% for general employees
and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions,
is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year. Contributions to the
pension plan from the City of Mebane were $921,862 for the year ended June 30, 2018.
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Refunds of Contributions — City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after service
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s
right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2018, the City reported a liability of $1,668,121 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2016. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2017 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the pension plan, relative
to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating LGERS employers,
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2017, the City’s proportion was 0.109%, which was an increase of
0.002% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $936,065. At June 30, 2018,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience.........ccoeuevurenene S 96,099 S 47,219
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....cceiiieeiieieirieieereeie e 238,231 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
PENSion Plan iNVESTMENTS.......ccccveivieireeeeeeee et 405,022 -
Changes in proportion and differences between City
contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 1,077,044 -
City contribution subsequent to the measurement date...................... 921,862 -
TOTAL et et S 2,738,258  § 47,219

$921,862 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an increase of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2009 e e e ar e e aae e ra e e e e e e et e e e raeennaeeenteeenne $459,861
2020 ettt ettt ae et a et ae s e e et esene et naaen 827,988
202 L e e et e st e e e he e e e bae e e ba e s baesebaeensteeaaes 480,212
2002 e e et e be e st e e e be e e ae e s baeeabaeeebaeearteaants 1,116
202 et e e et e e be e e ta e e be e e baeaeateeebeeebaeearaeannes -
TREIMEATEEN ...ttt b e be et sae e e b e e -

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
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Inflation 3.0 percent
Salary increases 3.50 to 8.10 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor
Investment rate of return 7.20 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.

Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury vyield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2017 are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term

Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
FiXed INCOME...cciiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 29.0% 1.4%
Global EQUILY .coeveeeiiiieeeeiet ettt 42.0% 5.3%
T | = | < T RRRRR 8.0% 4.3%
ALEINATIVES ...ttt e e 8.0% 8.9%
(@Yo [ SO PPPPUTTRRROOt 7.0% 6.0%
Inflation Protection........cccceeeeieieieieieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 6.0% 4.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2016 asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.20%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (6.20 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.20%) (7.20%) (8.20%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (aSSet).......cccvevvevvreeeereenricreeeeereeereeneen S 5,007,736 S 1,668,121 $(1,119,404)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30
years of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of
creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the
base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The
retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be
authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December
31, 2016 the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:

Retirees receiving DENETILS ... et 1
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits ........cccooerieiineniiinnennen. -
Active plan members 30

_‘
o
=4
Y]
w
[

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2016
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.50 to 7.35 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 3.16 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2017.
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Mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Mortality tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2015.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City paid $6,883 as benefits came due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2018, the City reported a total pension liability of $574,870. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2017 based on a December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2016 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City
recognized pension expense of $66,505.

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S 45,636 S -

Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....cccccuieieieeiercee ettt 40,030 10,289
Benefit payments and administrative expenses made
subsequent to the measurement date........cccoeeveverieneneniecenecireneenens - -

TOUAN ettt S 85,666 S 10,289

$7,086 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

20000 e e et e be e e eta e e e e e e beeebeeeeaaeeeaeeeenteaaans S 2,041
2020 ettt e era e e e e e ae e s ae e e saeeera e e aeeebeeearaeenneeeanreeanne 2,041
2021ttt ettt sttt e a et e sene et nanen 2,041
2022 ettt ettt a st e et et te e n et et ene et naaen 2,041
202 e e e s be e e ta e e e e ae e e ba e e baeeebaeanateaaaes 2,041
TR EATEEN ...ttt ettt a e be e 84

$6,883 paid as benefits came due and $203 of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement
date are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.16 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(2.16 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.16 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.16%) (3.16%) (4.16%)
Total pension [1ability.....ccoeeeeieeeereeeirereeeennnes S 644,626 S 574,870 S 512,291
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Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

2017

BeginninNg DalanCe.....cocceeeeeeeerereeiereeeee ettt naee S 427,541
Service cost at end of year.............. 37,803
Interest of total pension liability.....cocoevvevnienneceicereceeee, 16,370
Changes of benefit termMS........ccceveviverecieiecccere e -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.....cccooevenevniinennns 53,293
Changes of assumptions or other inputs.......cccoceeeeeeerrecececeeeenenenn 46,746
Benefit payments (6,883)
Other Changes.....cocoeveveeerecreese e -
Ending balance of the total pension liability......ccccoceerevneneeecnenene S 574,870

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study from the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.

Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions

Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS LEOSSA Total

Pension Expense S 936,065 S 66,505 S 1,002,570
Pension Liability 1,668,121 574,870 2,242,991
Proportionate share of the

net pension [1ability.....oeeeeeencecnniciennnn, 0.10919% n/a
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and

actual experience........... 96,099 45,636 141,735
Changes of assumptions 238,231 40,030 278,261

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... 405,022 - 405,022
Changes in proportion and differences

between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions.......cccccoeveeeivecevenens 1,077,044 - 1,077,044
Benefit payments and administrative costs
paid subsequent to the measurement date.. 921,862 - 921,862

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Differences between expected and

actual experience.. .. eeeevececeeeeceeesens 47,219 - 47,219
Changes of assumptions - 10,289 10,289
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... - - -
Changes in proportion and differences

between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions........ccccceeeeeeviiicicennns - - -
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Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Non-Law Enforcement Officers

Pension Descriptions. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by The Prudential Insurance Company of America. The Plan
provides retirement benefits to non-law enforcement officers employed by the City. The City Council has
the authority for establishing or amending the plan’s provisions.

Funding Policy. The City contributes an amount equal to five percent of each employee's salary, and all
amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also, the employees may make voluntary contributions to
the plan. The City Council has the authority for establishing or amending contribution requirements.
Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $341,172, which consisted of $241,687 from the
City and $99,485, respectively, from the employees.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of G.S.
Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included
in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR
includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan
that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may
be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North
Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 981-5454.

Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The
law enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan. Contributions for the year
ended June 30, 2018 were $110,255, which consisted of $81,479 from the City and $28,776, respectively,
from the law enforcement officers.

Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund

Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Mebane, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North Carolina.
FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire workers that have elected to become members of the
fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one
appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who
serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighter’s Pension Fund is included in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (CAFR) for the state of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the Fund. That report may be obtained by writing to the
Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling
(919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.
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Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a non-
employer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City is not required to contribute to
the Fund; however, as a benefit to the firefighters, the City has chosen to fund the member’s
contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58- 86 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017, the State
contributed $17,602,000 to the plan. The City of Mebane’s proportionate share of the State’s
contribution is $22,394.

Refunds of Contributions — Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2018, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The total
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$61,719. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2016. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2017 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to make any future
contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at June 30, 2017 and at June 30, 2016 was 0%.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $8,003 and revenue of $8,003
for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2018, the City reported no deferred outflows of resources
and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 3.0 percent

Salary increases Not applicable

Investment rate of return 7.20 percent, net of pension plan investment

Expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan in Section a. of this note.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.20%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Other Post-employment Benefits

Healthcare Benefits

Plan Description. Employees who retire under the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System (NCLGERS) and have fifteen (15) or more years of service with the City at
the time of retirement are eligible to continue coverage in the City’s health plan, a single-employer
defined benefit plan. Coverage in the health plan will continue until the retiree becomes Medicare
eligible, at which time coverage will be converted to a Medicare Supplement Plan. Health care and
prescription drug coverage are provided by the City’s health plan. A separate stand-alone report is not
issued.

Membership of the Health Care Plan consisted of the following at December 31, 2017, the date of the
latest actuarial valuation:

General Law Enforcement
Employees Officers
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits 14 5
Active plan MEemMDErS ........ooicuiie e 91 31

Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability of $6,034,736 was measured as of June 30, 2017 and was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods
included in the measurement unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.5 percent
Real wage growth 1.0 percent
Wage inflation 3.5 percent
Salary increases General Employees- 3.50 to 7.75 percent, Firefighters 3.50 to

7.75 percent, Law Enforcement Officers 3.50 to 7.35 percent,
including inflation

Discount rate 3.56 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-Medicare- 7.50 percent for 2017 to 5.00 percent by 2023
Medicare- 5.50 percent for 2017 to 5.00 percent by 2020

The discount rate is based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year Municipal
Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.
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Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJuly 1, 2016......ccccoevvenirvinenenncirennne S 6,145,476
Changes for the year
Service cost 452,991
Interest....ccceeeveeccieccieeen, 183,870
Changes in benefit terMS.......cccvvecrereece s -
Differences between expected and actual experience.........cccueu.u..... (9,652)
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (663,734)
Benefit PAYMENTS....cccoeiiiireeeree e (74,215)
NEt ChaNEES ...ttt (110,740)
Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJune 30, 2017......cccccevevvveveeerreenrennns S 6,034,736

Changes in assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.01% to 3.56%.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, with adjustments for LGERS experience and
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period January 2010 through December 2014.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current discount

rate:
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.56%) (3.56%) (4.56%)
Total OPEB liability..cccveveeeeeecereeeeceseeeeeeienne S 7,317,560 S 6,034,736 S 5,040,441

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
Total OPEB liability...ccoeveeeeerreerereeeeceeevereenenne S 4,860,317 S 6,034,736 S 7,617,917

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of $565,904. At June 30, 2018, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the
following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience..........ccceueueuee. S - S 8,635
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....ccccuicieuieieiiicee et - 593,794
Benefit payments and administrative costs made
subsequent to the measurement date 62,055 -
0] - 1 TR RS SEPN S 62,055 S 602,429

$62,055 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
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decrease of the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

S 70,957
70,957
70,957
70,957
70,957
B LT} <) (T 247,644

Other Employment Benefits

The City has elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for members
of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-employer,
State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis. The beneficiaries of those
employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or who die
within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of contributing
membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits. Lump sum death
benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a row during
the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be less than
$25,000. Because all death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan and not by the City,
the City does not determine the number of eligible participants. The City has no liability beyond the
payment of monthly contributions. The contributions to the Death Benefit Plan cannot be separated
between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit amount. Contributions are
determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established annually by the State.
Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law enforcement officers.
The City considers these contributions to be immaterial.

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources is comprised of the

following:
Bonding and refunding COStS ... S 6,840
Pensions- differences between expected and actual experience....... 141,735
Pensions- change of assUMPLioNS......c.ccoeceievieineceneneeeseceseee e 278,261
Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment

CATNINES cuveeveieeeitertest e st e st este e et s st e st e seesbeesseestessee st esseesasesaeesseanseesesasesnnn 405,022
Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 1,077,044
Contributions to pension planin current fiscal year......ccceevveeuenes 921,862
Benefit payments for OPEB made subsequent to measurement

L6 = =T 62,055
LEOSSA- benefit payments made and administrative

EXPENSES w.ntrerreuiutrtetetesesteeetees e et st et ese e st saebe et aebe et et se et ebese et be et eas -
1 o] - 1 R S 2,892,819
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Deferred inflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following:

Statement of General Fund

Net Position Balance Sheet
Pensions- differences between expected and actual experience....... S 47,219 S -
LEOSSA- change of assuUmMPLioNS......ceeeecerecenensireeeeeseeese s 10,289 -
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 8,635 -
OPEB- change of asSUMPLIONS.......cvurirreririrereeeeeeeee e 593,795 -
Prepaid taxes and licenses (General Fund)......ccccooeeveeecenecreeneennenenn 806 806
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund) - 81,688
TOTAL et S 660,744 S 82,494

Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions, injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries commercial coverage
for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage in the prior
year, and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last four fiscal years.

The City has not been designated as being in a flood zone and thus carries no commercial flood
insurance.

In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given time
of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer and
tax collector are individually bonded for $50,000 each and the City Manager for $25,000. The remaining
employees that have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $25,000.

Claims, Judgments and Contingent Liabilities

At June 30, 2018, the City was a defendant to various lawsuits. In the opinion of the City’s management
and the City attorney, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the City’s financial position.

Long-Term Obligations
General Obligation Indebtedness

The general obligation bonds and the notes payable, which were issued to finance the construction of
facilities utilized in the operations of the water and sewer system and which are being retired by its
resources, are reported as long-term debt in the Water and Sewer Fund. All general obligation bonds are
collateralized by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the City. Principal and interest requirements
are appropriated on all indebtedness when due.

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 2018 are comprised of the following individual issues:

General Obligation Bonds:

There were no general obligation bonds payable at June 30, 2018.

Installment Purchases:

Serviced by the General Fund:

Note payable to Bank of America, N.A. for the Library renovation project.
Principal payments of $76,667 plus interest are due semi-annually starting on

September 29, 2005. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.655%. The new
Library building is security for the 10an. ........cccviiiieiec e s S 230,000
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Note payable to Bank of America, N.A. for the City Hall and Recreation Building
renovation projects. Principal payments of $106,667 plus interest are due
semi-annually starting on December 27, 2008. The note bears interest at the
rate of 3.52%. The City Hall and Recreation buildings are security for the loan. ................ 1,066,667

Note payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for the purchase of a street sweeper
and a garbage truck. Consecutive principal payments of $92,960, $94,191,
$95,438, $96,702, and $97,983, plus interest are due annually starting on
September 11, 2014. The note bears interest at the rate of 1.32%. The street
sweeper and garbage truck are security for the loan. .........cccccoveeiciiii e, 97,983

Note payable to BB&T for the Southside Fire Station Project. Principal
payments of $86,667 plus interest are due semi-annually starting on July 23,
2014. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.84%. All property, equipment
and deposits acquired with these local funds are the security for the loan......................... 1,906,667

Note payable to Piedmont Electric Membership Corporation as part of the
USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL) Program for the purchase of
two fire trucks and related fire truck equipment and firefighting equipment for
the Southside Fire Station. Principal payments of $140,889 are due annually
starting on February 1, 2015 with final payment due February 1, 2023. The
note bears no interest as part of the REDL program. The fire trucks and
equipment are security for the 10aNn. ... 704,444

Note payable to Piedmont Electric Membership Corporation as part of the
USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL) Program for the purchase of a
fire truck. Principal payments of $46,833 are due annually starting on August 1,
2017 with final payment due August 1, 2026. The note bears no interest as
part of the REDL program. The fire truck is security for the loan. ..........cceeevvivieeeicieeens 421,497

Note payable to American National Bank and Trust Company for the City Park
Project. Principal payments of $194,333 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on October 15, 2017. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.23%. All
property, improvements and equipment acquired with these local funds are
the security FOr the 10AN. .....ooo i e et e e e earae e e areeeens 5,441,333

Note payable to Branch Banking and Trust Company for the Fire Department
Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $43,187 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on April 27, 2018. The note bears interest at the rate of
1.85%. All equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are
the security FOr the 10AN. ......coueiiieeeeee ettt e et e et e e e aree e 388,686

Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

Loan from the North Carolina Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund for 9th
Street Sewer improvements. Principal payments of $4,806 annually on the
indebtedness started on May 1, 2010. The interest rate as established under
this Program is ZEro PEICENT. ...cccuiiiiiiiiieiteete ettt sttt sttt aeessbe e sbeeeanee s 52,862

Note payable to Carolina Bank for the water treatment plant upgrade and
expansion projects. Principal and interest payments are due annually on July 1,
in varying amounts, starting July 1, 2015 and ending July 1, 2029. The note
bears interest at the rate of 2.60%. All property, equipment and deposits
acquired with these local funds are the security for the loan. .......ccccccocoveeeiiiiieciiee e, 3,873,000
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Note payable to BB&T for the construction of a Sewer Pump Station, main,
outfall and tunnel. Principal payments of $66,667 plus interest are due semi-

annually starting on May 1, 2008. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.85%. .............. 533,333
Total [ONG-tEIM D@D ...eeeieeee e e e e e e sae e s aneeas 14,716,472
Less: Current portion of long-term debt.........ccoceiiiiiiiiiiiii e (1,717,885)
Non-current portion of long-term debt..........ccciiiiiiiiieiii e e $ 12,998,587

At June 30, 2018, the City of Mebane had no authorized but unissued bonds and had a legal debt margin
of $154,137,370.

The following table summarizes the annual requirements to amortize all long-term liabilities outstanding
at June 30, 2018 (excluding compensated absences, pension liabilities, OPEB liabilities, and any claims or

judgments).

General Obligation Other Long-term

Bonds Indebtedness Total Debt Due

Serviced by General Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
2019 S - S - S 1,300,746 S 278,487 S 1,300,746 S 278,487
2020.ccuiireieeereeeererenns - - 1,126,097 245,512 1,126,097 245,512
2021 - - 1,049,430 216,886 1,049,430 216,886
2022 - - 1,049,430 190,127 1,049,430 190,127
2023 - - 1,006,243 163,369 1,006,243 163,369
2024-2028.....coevvverrnee. - - 2,997,331 522,377 2,997,331 522,377
2029-maturity....ccceu..e. - - 1,728,000 118,299 1,728,000 118,299
Total e S - S - $10,257,277 $ 1,735,057 $10,257,277 $1,735,057

Serviced by Water & Sewer Fund:

Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest

2019 S - S - S 417,139 S 116,321 S 417,139 S 116,321
2020 - - 424,139 103,843 424,139 103,843
P10 7 S - - 431,139 52,482 431,139 52,482
2022 - - 440,139 78,314 440,139 78,314
2023 - - 313,806 66,521 313,806 66,521
2024-2028.....ccucveveverenee - - 1,695,028 206,167 1,695,028 206,167
2029-maturity....cccceuenee. - - 737,805 15,175 737,805 15,175
Total e S - S - $ 4,459,195 $ 638823 $ 4,459,195 S 638,823
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Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

Current
Balance July 1, Balance June  Portion of
2017 Increases Decreases 30,2018 Balance
Governmental activities:
Notes payable.....vnenneninecinenenes $11,141,683 $ 431,873 $1,316,279 $10,257,277 $1,300,746
Compensated absences......cccoeververennne 374,627 316,780 285,104 406,303 316,780
Total OPEB liability...cccocvveveererecireennee 5,332,571 - 97,125 5,235,446 -
Net pension liability (LGERS) 1,986,181 - 525,131 1,461,050 -
Total pension liability (LEO) 427,541 147,329 - 574,870 -
Governmental activity
long-term liabilities......cccecevvvereveeennne. $19,262,603 $ 895,982 $2,223,639 $17,934,946 $1,617,526
Business-type activities:
Notes payable.....evevvecececreeeee, S 4,869,335 S - S 410,140 S 4,459,195 S 417,139
Graham/Mebane Watershed
AZreemMENT.....cuccveeeereeereeereee e 2,165,861 - 127,403 2,038,458 127,403
Graham/Mebane Capacity
AGIrEEMENT....civiireeiriierieerreese st 2,682,464 - 200,000 2,482,464 200,000
General obligation bonds.......cccceeueuenene 95,000 - 95,000 - -
Net pension liability (LGERS)................. 280,685 - 73,614 207,071 -
Compensated absences........ccoevevreenene 56,747 44,782 36,478 65,051 44,782
Total OPEB liability...cccocvveveererrecrrreennee 812,905 - 13,615 799,290 -
Business-type activity
long-term liabilities......cccocevvverveveeenne. $10,962,997 $ 44,782 $§ 956,250 $10,051,529 S 789,324

Compensated absences, the net pension obligation, and the net Other Postemployment Benefit

obligation for governmental activities have typically been liquidated in the General Fund.

C. Interfund Balances and Activity

Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system,
and (3) payments between funds are made. These balances routinely clear out each month prior to or at

year-end.
There were no balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2018.

A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Transfer from White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation Capital Project Fund to:

GENEIA] FUNG ettt ettt ettt st e et st se s et et st esese s s sassest et seesesestasseesentassseseneatases enee S 212,399
Transfer from General Fund to:

City Park ProjeCt FUNG.. ..ottt st ettt sa et nn b s erennns 1,512,411
Transfer from White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation Capital Project Fund to:

Water aNd SEWEE FUNG.....ocuiieiceeeieceecectccteeeteetee et sttt st st eae e eseese e e et esbe st e besesrannas 2,003
Transfer from Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade Capital Project Fund to:

Water anNd SEWEE FUNG......ciiieieeeieeeietetetete e ste e ste e te st se s e sae s e e sseeseeneene e e enne e ensenneneenean 20,294
Transfer from Water Treatment Plant Stage 2 Capital Project Fund to:

Water aNd SEWEE FUNG......ooiiiiceiceeeeeeeteete ettt et sa et et st e be et e easeentesnessnneseensens 15,269
TOTAL ettt sttt b et et e e et e e ae et e be b e ae et et eae b eaeetes shestetenteaeneeneane S 1,762,376

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to

the fund that statute or budget requires to spend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected
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general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations.

Further, during the year ended June 30, 2018, the City made the following one-time transfers:

1) A transfer of $212,399 from the White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation Capital Project Fund to the
General Fund to close out the capital project.

2) A transfer of $1,512,411 from the General Fund to the City Park Project Fund for construction of a
park and capital outlays for recreation purposes.

3) A transfer of $2,003 from the White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation Capital Project Fund to the
Water and Sewer Fund to close out the capital project.

4) A transfer of $20,294 from the Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade Capital Project Fund to the
Water and Sewer Fund to close out the capital project.

5) A transfer of $15,269 from the Water Treatment Plant Stage 2 Capital Project Fund to the Water and
Sewer Fund to close out the capital project.

D. On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

Also, the City has recognized as a revenue and an expenditure on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and
salaries of $18,987, for the salary supplement and stipend benefits paid to eligible firemen by the local
board of trustees of the Firemen’s Relief Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Under State
law the local board of trustees for the Fund receives an amount each year which the board may use at its
own discretion for eligible firemen or their departments.

E. Net Investment in Capital Assets
Governmental Business-type
CaPital ASSELS ittt b et ettt eaees S 50,868,231 S 47,102,743

less: 1oNg-term debt.......ccoeveeiiriecc e 10,257,277 8,980,117
add: unexpended debt proceeds........ccoeeeeereeeecineceeieneeeeee e - -

Net investment in capital asSetS.....covnireverirereeceseeeee e S 40,610,954 S 38,122,626

F. Fund Balance
The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of General
fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance —General FUNG.......oov ettt S 12,197,410
Less: Nonspendable Prepaid ASSELS......ceieerieieiriseeeesee e sssssssss e sesssaesesesessnns (131,945)
Stabilization by State STAtULE......ccccvciiceceeectee e (2,673,951)
Appropriated fund balance in 2019 budget.......cccveveevecneveneceeeee e (1,828,000)
WOIKIiNG CAPITal.ccicciciecceeeeer ettt ae e s s (7,563,514)

REMAiNING FUN DAlANCE ...ttt be et bene S -

The outstanding encumbrances are amounts needed to pay any commitments related to purchase orders
and contracts that remain unperformed at year-end. Outstanding encumbrances for the Governmental
Funds at June 30, 2018 were $232,325 for the General Fund, and $3,083,459 for the City Park Capital
Project Fund.

G. Jointly Governed Organization

The City, in conjunction with twelve counties and sixty other municipalities established the Piedmont
Triad Regional Council (Council). The participating governments established the Council to coordinate
various funding received from federal and State agencies. Each participating government appoints one
member and one alternate if they so desire, to the Council’s governing board. The City paid $2,651 in
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general membership fees and $4,500 in stormwater fees to the Council during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018.

H. Joint Ventures

The City, in conjunction with the Cities of Burlington and Graham, participate in the Alamance Municipal
ABC Board. Each participating government appoints board members. The ABC Board is a joint venture
established to facilitate control over alcoholic beverages within the Cities. The ABC Board has been in
existence for over 38 years and is self-sustaining. The City has an ongoing financial responsibility for the
ABC Board because it and the Cities of Burlington and Graham are legally obligated under the
intergovernmental agreement that created the ABC Board to honor any deficiencies in the event that
proceeds from other default remedies are insufficient. The participating governments do not have any
equity interest in the joint venture, so no equity interest has been reflected in the financial statements at
June 30, 2018. Complete financial statements for the ABC Board can be obtained from the
administrative offices at 603 W. Harden Street, Graham, North Carolina, 27253.

I. Joint Operation

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham are co-owners and operators of a water supply reservoir and
water treatment plant per an Intergovernmental Watershed Agreement. Since June 22, 1973, the
ownership of the assets and improvements of the joint undertaking remained at 66.7% interest for the
City of Graham and 33.3% interest for the City of Mebane. Due to relative growths of the populations in
units of government, the parties agreed as February 3, 2014 to adjust the capacity, treatment and
operational costs, improvements, upgrades, and repairs to be borne equally by the units. At this time,
the City of Mebane also agreed to pay to the City of Graham an equalizing sum of $2,548,070 for their
capital interest. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $127,403 with the first
payment due July 31, 2014. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the payable as of
June 30, 2018 was $2,038,458.

J. Interlocal Cooperation Agreement

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham entered into an interlocal cooperation agreement for the
allocation of Twenty One and Forty Three One Hundredths percent (21.43%) of capacity usage of the City
of Graham’s wastewater treatment plant. The cost of agreed upon improvements or upgrades to the
wastewater treatment plant and the Cherry Lane pump station will be shared by the City of Mebane and
the City of Graham based on percentage of capacity usage, as noted above. The duration for the
continuation of the agreement is 99 years. The City of Mebane has agreed to pay the City of Graham
$2,682,464 for this capacity usage. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $200,000
(payments 1-5), $150,000 (payments 6-10), $100,000 (payments 11-15), and $86,493 (payments 16-20)
with the first payment due July 10, 2017. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the
payable as of June 30, 2018 was $2,482,464.

K. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies

Federal and State Assisted Programs

The City has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant
agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies.
Management believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the
accompanying financial statements for the grant monies.

L. Significant Effects of Subsequent Events

In accordance with ASC 855, the City evaluated subsequent events through October 31, 2018, the date
the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no material subsequent events that
required recognition or additional disclosure in these financial statements.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2018

M. Change in Accounting Principles/Restatement

The City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) No. Statement 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, in the fiscal year ending June
30, 2018. The implementation of the statement required the City to record beginning total OPEB liability
and the effects on net position of benefit payments and administrative expenses paid by the City related
to OPEB during the measurement period (fiscal year ending June 30, 2017). Beginning deferred outflows
and inflows of resources associated with the implementation were excluded from the restatement. As a
result, net position for the governmental activities decreased $2,027,899 and $309,136 for the business-
type activities.
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Required
Supplementary
Information

This section contains additional information required
by generally accepted accounting principles.

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) for
Local Government Employees’ Retirement System

Schedule of Contributions to Local Government Employees’
Retirement System

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability for
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability (Asset) for
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll for Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios







City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last Five Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2018

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Mebane's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) (%).... 0.10919%  0.10681%  0.10043%  0.09862%  0.99260%

Mebane's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) ($)..... $1,668,121 $2,266,866 S 450,724 S (581,608) $1,116,186
Mebane's covered-employee payroll........ccceveeeveeeveevvesneenns $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 $5,064,935 $4,888,462

Mebane's proportionate share of the net pension liability
(asset) as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll....... 27.51% 37.84% 8.72% (11.48%) 22.83%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability **........ccoviviiiiieree e 94.18% 91.47% 98.09% 102.64% 94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30. This
schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it
becomes available.

** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Required Supplementary Information
City of Mebane's Contributions

Last Five Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2018

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution..........cccccveevveveenene. S 364,077 S 438,800 S 404,627 S 376,969 S 353,916
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution.........ccccceiieeiiiiie e 364,077 438,800 404,627 376,969 353,916
Contribution deficiency (€XCess)......cvevvvvveveevreerverreenens S - S - S - S - S -
Mebane's covered-employee payroll........ccccevevveereennen. S 6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 S 5,064,935
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee

PAYIOIl..eeiiieiee e 5.57% 7.24% 6.75% 7.29% 6.99%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed
as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Last Four Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2018

Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension

2018 2017 2016 2015

Mebane's proportionate share of the net pension liability (%)............ 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000%
Mebane's proportionate share of the net pension liability (S)............. S - S - S - S -
State's proportionate share of the net pension liability

associated with the City of Mebane..........cccccooviiiiiieccii s 61,719 45,002 38,775 31,152
o] =1 PP USURRRROt S 61,719 S 45,002 S 38,775 §$ 31,152
Mebane's covered-employee payroll........cccoveeeveeeeevieseeseciesreenenn $1,289,371 $1,227,668 $1,268,042 S 945,728
Mebane's proportionate share of the net pension liability
(asset) as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll..................... 4.79% 3.67% 3.06% 3.29%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
PENSION TIADIlITY.ccviiiiieeiiecie e 89.35% 84.94% 91.40% 93.42%

* The amounts are presented for the prior fiscal year. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.

Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

June 30, 2018
2018 2017

BeGINNING DAlANCE.....eocviieiiceeietecee ettt ettt et ettt et e et eete et e et e bt et e eaeeereeans S 427,541 S 400,968
SBIVICE COST. . iiiiiiiiiiiieee e et ettt ceee e e e e e e ettt eeeeeeeeeeeta bt aeeeeesessssataaseeeeesesssrannnaeeesessssssnnnnnsesesenees 37,803 35,736
Interest on the total pension liability........ccccooeiiiiii e 16,370 14,155
Changes of beNefit tEIMS....ccc e e e e e e e e e e e ennees - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.........ccccveeiiiiiciiiiec e 53,293 -
Changes of assumptions or Other INPULS...........cooiiiiiiiiii e et 46,746 (14,371)
BNt PAYMENTS...oi ittt e e e et e e et e e e e be e e e et e e e e tre e e etaeeeetaeeeanneas (6,883) (8,947)
(01 oY= el o =1 oY= d YT PUPPT - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability.........cccevveiieiiiieiiceccccece e S 574,870 S 427,541

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

June 30, 2018
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Total pension liability............... S 574,870 S 427,541 S 400,968 S 258,154 S 238,533 $226,153 $224,291 $267,638
Covered payroll.......cccceeeeeennns 1,553,944 1,443,743 1,443,743 1,228,378 1,097,171 931,673 946,084 831,610
Total pension liabilty as a
percentage of covered
PAYIOll..ciiiiiei e 36.99% 29.61% 27.77% 21.02% 21.74% 24.27% 23.71% 32.18%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related
benefits.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

June 30, 2018

Total OPEB Liability 2018
I I COST .t tneteeeee e e et e e e e ee e e et ee e ettt eeeeueeesaueeeeaaaeeesaeaeesaneeesaaneeeseaneeesanseeeeanseeeaanseeesasaeesan aeeaseeesansseesananeean S 452,991
] =] 1) A OU N UURPPON 183,870
Changes Of DENEFIL tEIMS....coi e e e e e et e e e e e e sttt e e e e e e eeanaaeeeaeesnnaens -
Differences between expected and actual EXPEriENCE........cccuviiiiii e e e (9,652)
Changes OF @SSUMIPTIONS. ......oiiiiiieeeiiee et eecte e et e e ettt e e et e e e etaeeeeabeeeeeateeeeesseaeeasseeeansaeeeessaeeesas srreaeannes (663,734)
2L Y= o T= 170 1 =T oY £ PP RSRRI _ (74,215)
Net change in total OPEB liability........cueiiiiiiiiiieciee sttt e e ste e s be e s te e aaeebaeeaeesnees (110,740)
Total OPEB liability - DEGINNING.....ciiiiiiie et e st e e e sate e e saeee s sabaeeen 6,145,476
Total OPEB lHability = @NING..c.viiiiieieieieeeee ettt ettt ettt te et steesteeaeesteenteeaeesaeetesaeesteeeesaeens $ 6,034,736
(0o )V 7T a Yo [ T 1V o | PR UPPPRN 6,100,000
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered Payroll..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiniieeinie e 98.93%

Notes to Schedule

Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount

rate of each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

Fiscal Year Rate
2018 3.56%
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Major Governmental
Funds

The General Fund - This fund is used to account for
resources traditionally associated with government
which are not required legally or by sound financial
management to be accounted for in another fund.

The City Park Capital Project Fund - This fund is
used to account for the land purchase and
construction of the city park.







City of Mebane, North Carolina

Comparative Balance Sheets

General Fund

June 30, 2018 and 2017 Statement A-1

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........ccueiueeirietectecee ettt ettt ere et et e eareearenteenreas $ 10,470,171 S 11,779,581
YT o o1 1Yo [ or=1] o T RURRRRURRUPRRRPRE 794,986 442,528
BN G =101 7] o [N 81,687 107,130
ACCOUNTS FECEIVADIE. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e ee e et e e e e e e e e e e e e sesessseannes 103,279 57,241
YT [ o I =T o LRSS 131,945 51,005
Due from other BOVEIrNMENTS......ccicciiiecciie et e e e e eanes 2,338,347 2,409,499

TOLAl @SSEES.ceuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirneetttttteeteeeessrsssnnseeeeeeeeesesssssssnsnssssseeesessssssssssnnnnsssseeeneens S 13,920,415 S 14,846,984

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE .ottt ettt ettt eae e e sre e eas S 1,005,231 § 811,941
Due t0 Other GOVEINMENTS. ....ccociiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e eerar e e e e eeans 6,433 -
Payable from restricted assetsS.......cucuiiiiiiiiciiiiiee e 628,847 442,528
Total liabilities.....ccoeiiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinecieceeeeres e sss e e s s e e s s e e s e e e s esssnnnssssssssssssnnns 1,640,511 1,254,469
Deferred inflows Of r@SOUICES.........coiiieeniiiiieierccr e reeeee e e e s eenanneeeseenanssenns 82,494 107,937

Fund balances:

Nonspendable:

PrEPaid @SSELS. ... uuiiieieei et e ettt e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e abr e e e e e e e braaeaaaeanns 131,945 51,005
Restricted for:

Stabilization by State StatUte........coccciiiiii i 2,673,951 2,545,731
Assigned:

Subsequent year's eXPeNitUresS........cccuuiiei et e e e e e e e e e eeneaes 1,828,000 1,803,854

(61 T T = Y=o SRR 7,563,514 9,083,988
Total fUNA DAlANCES......cvveeiireiireeiirieiirerierreeerereeeressrenesesensssrenssessassssenssesannann: 12,197,410 13,484,578
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and FUNA DalanCes... ... ..iiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeessssssssssssssssssssssssssssnes S 13,920,415 S 14,846,984

Page 59



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement A-2
2018
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2017 Actual
Revenues
Property taxes:
Current and Prior YEarS.......coueceeeveeveeveereeereesreeiseennens S 9,847,675 S S 9,314,620
Penalties and interest, net of discounts.............eeveeeeee. 3,930 35,243
B 1o ] =1 POt 9,561,653 9,851,605 289,952 9,349,863
Other taxes and licenses:
Privilege liCENSES........uvveeieeicirieeee e 500 1,005 505 960
Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local Option Sales TaX......ccvveveeeeercvreeeeeeeeeriiieeeeee e 3,143,388 2,952,310
Telecommunications sales taX..........oeevvvveeeeeeierivvnennnnn. 96,923 105,573
Utility franchise taX.....cccceveeeveiveeeviiee e, 1,110,042 1,068,679
Video franchise fEe.......uurururerrreriiiiieeeeireeeeiveverereeeeeeeeees 64,090 65,483
Beer and Wine taX........uuueeeeeiiieiieeiieie e 55,687 57,134
ABC profit distribution.........cccccceeeviiieiiee e, 83,969 41,181
TaX ShariNG..ccii i 278,273 104,400
(01 =Y Ut 33,667 32,410
1o ] =1 POt 4,969,643 4,866,039 (103,604) 4,427,170
Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill Allocation..........ueeeeiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeiiee e 343,853 341,087
Controlled substance taX......ccoeeeeiiivieviiiieiiiiiieiiieeeens 6,167 17,402
ABC Revenue for law enforcement........cooeeeveeeveeeennneee 22,001 8,950
Solid waste disposal taX........cccvvveeieeeiiiiiieeeee e, 8,542 8,479
On-behalf of payments - fir€.......cccceeeevveivcieeecciieeees 41,381 34,735
Federal equitable sharing.........ccccccevveiviieeiivinciiineen. 150,169 17,187
ONE NC Grant....cuueeiieiieeciee et 182,500 -
Other grants and awards.........cccccceeeeeeviiieeeee e e, 54,800 14,800
Fire district tax funds.......cccccvvviiiiiii, 456,555 461,979
1o ] =1 POt 1,041,900 1,265,968 224,068 904,619
Permits and fees:
Building permits.......cccceeeveiiiieeieee e 190,930 230,522
INSPECLION FEES...ciiiiiieeeiiie e 207,429 206,167
Street and utility inspection fees........ccccccvveeeeciveeenneen. 9,280 42,860
(01 = PNt 3,941 3,260
TOTAl ettt 433,000 411,580 (21,420) 482,809
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement A-2
2018
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2017 Actual

Revenues (continued)
Sales and services:

Recreation department fees.........oeeveveeveeieeireenneennn. S S 92,468 S S 92,140
Sanitation feES.....covvvviiiiiiiii 349,815 329,174
(0] 4 o 1=1 TSP UPTPN 19,750 23,500
o] 7 | OSSP UUTN 405,450 462,033 56,583 444,814
Investment earnings.......ccccciveeiiiienniiinieniinnenienienn. 12,000 47,386 35,386 10,508
Miscellaneous:
Material Sales.......uuueeiiiiiiiiieee e 11,260 7,294
60,580 58,291
- 24,886
105,666 90,088
o] 7 | O USRS 129,500 177,506 48,006 180,559
TOtal FEVENUES....cccuuuceeriireeeenncceereererennnseeeeeeeeennnssnnenns 16,553,646 17,083,122 529,476 15,801,302
Expenditures
General government:
Council:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccccvvviveieeeinnennn. 58,894 58,924
Other operating expenditures..........cccccvvveeeeeeinnneenn. 24,741 17,170
o) 7 | PRSP 95,373 83,635 11,738 76,094
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccccvvvevciierennnennn. 626,523 632,549
Other operating expenditures..........coeevvveeeeeeerecinnnnns 204,594 111,335
Capital outlay.......oeeeeeiciiiiiiee s 26,973 22,744
o) 7 | PP PRP 1,031,637 858,090 173,547 766,628
Information Technology:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccccvvvevciveeinnennn. 73,028 86,401
Other operating expenditures..........coecvvvveeeeeevecinnnnns 115,699 112,180
Capital outlay 17,771 11,755
243,581 206,498 37,083 210,336
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccovvvevcverennnennn. 264,455 261,039
Other operating expenditures 220,485 202,374
Capital outlay.......ceeieeiiiiiiee s 75,192 13,937
o) 7 | PSP 740,292 560,132 180,160 477,350
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement A-2
2018
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2017 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
General government:
Non-departmental:
Other operating expenditures..........ccocvveeeeereervennens S 536,543 S S 466,631
o) 7 | PRSP 579,123 536,543 42,580 466,631
Total general government.........cccccveeeeeeeeecciiieeeeeeeeens 2,690,006 2,244,898 445,108 1,997,039
Public safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccovvvevcieeeinnennn. 2,695,189 2,503,142
MaiNtENANCE....uuiiiie i 99,429 130,534
Other operating expenditures..........coeeevvvveereeerecnnnens 442,300 496,926
Capital outlay.......coeoeeiiiiiiiie s 347,736 189,622
o) 7 | PP 3,820,606 3,584,654 235,952 3,320,224
Fire department:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccovvvevcveeeicnnennn. 1,986,879 1,950,193
MaiNtENANCE....uuiiieee e 117,216 99,602
Other operating expenditures 432,425 272,951
Capital outlay.......coeeeeiiiiiiieee s 405,407 528,074
o] 7 | PRSP 3,179,914 2,941,927 237,987 2,850,820
Total public safety.....cccoeeciiiiiiiie e, 7,000,520 6,526,581 473,939 6,171,044
Public works:
Public works and maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccvvvevcieeennnennn. 818,313 929,234
MaiNtENANCE....uuiieie e 926,140 661,971
Other operating expenditures..........coecevvvveereeevecnnnnnns 590,083 564,812
Capital outlay.......coeeeeiiiiiiee s 185,658 253,592
o) 7 | PP PRP 3,392,589 2,520,194 872,395 2,409,609
Sanitation:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccovvievcveeennnennn. 377,019 376,273
Maintenance 89,641 93,985
TIPPING FEES..eeeeeiiie et 320,443 305,451
Other operating expenditures..........cccccvvveeeeeernnneenn. 93,382 83,451
o) 7 | OSSPSR 988,905 880,485 108,420 859,160
Total public WOrks.......ccccvviiiiiiiiee e, 4,381,494 3,400,679 980,815 3,268,769
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017)

Statement A-2

2018
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2017 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
Recreation:
Parks and recreation:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccovvrevcverennnennn. 654,994 S 644,605
MaintenancCe......coeueeeivveeiiiiieceeieeeeenen, 115,123 126,649
Other operating expenditures 356,142 265,830
Capital outlay.......ceeieeiiiiiiiiee s 702,682 19,525
o 7 | PP 2,230,939 1,828,941 401,998 1,056,609
Total recreation........cccceeeeeeciiiiee e 2,230,939 1,828,941 401,998 1,056,609
Economic and physical development:
Planning, zoning, and inspections:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccovvvevcieeennnennn. 556,181 508,232
MaiNtENANCE....uniiiie i 8,152 5,134
Professional SErVIiCeS.......covuuererrrurereierererererererereeeeeeens 240,186 247,737
Other operating expenditures..........cccecvvveeeevernnnenn. 114,552 79,260
Capital outlay.......ceeeeeiiiiiiiie s 25,220 -
o) 7 | PP 1,025,613 944,291 81,322 840,363
Economic development:
Other operating expenditures..........cccccvvveeeeeennnneen.. 933,883 (137,301)
o) 7 | ST 1,288,350 933,883 354,467 (137,301)
Total economic and physical development................... 2,313,963 1,878,174 435,789 703,062
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement........ccccovveeiiiiieiiiiieere e 1,318,448 1,316,286 2,162 836,338
Interest and other charges.........cccceeeeeeeciiieei e, 309,536 306,592 2,944 139,372
Total debt ServiCe. .. 1,627,984 1,622,878 5,106 975,710
Total expenditures..........cccceerreeeemececierreeeenennceeenreeeennnns 20,244,906 17,502,151 2,742,755 14,172,233
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement A-2
2018
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2017 Actual

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
OVEr EXPENAITUIES. ....evvrevreerererrsssssssesesesesens $ (3,691,260) $  (419,029) $ 3,272,231 $ 1,629,069

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

TrANSTOIS INuuurirererariierererererererererererererreereeeererereeere—ee—————.. 212,398 212,399 1 -

TranSfers OUt..c..eeiieerieenieenie ettt (1,877,411) (1,512,411) 365,000 (60,000)

Proceeds from long-term debt obligations issued......... 436,000 431,873 (4,127) 468,330
Total other financing sources (US€s)........ccceccerererrrcennne (1,229,013) (868,139) 360,874 408,330
Fund balance appropriated..........cccooveeeiiieiiiiiiiieceeens 4,920,273 - (4,920,273) -
Net change in fund balances...........ccccooveevvevrvecveeeesreenen. S - (1,287,168) S (1,287,168) 2,037,399
Fund balances - beginning ..........cccccovvieeiieiieiiiiiieeee e, 13,484,578 11,447,179
Fund balances - ending......ccccceeeeecvrreereeneeeccssseeeeeeesennns S 12,197,410 S 13,484,578
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Balance Sheets
Capital Project Fund - City Park Project

June 30, 2018 and 2017 Statement A-3
June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........cueiueeciieeeecrecetecte sttt et e eaeen S 2,358,926 S 5,817,337
[T 4 ot =Te ot 1 s VPR PPUROE - -
TOAl @SSES. cceiiiiiiirrreeeeeeerereeesessssesssssssssssesssssssseseeseeeeesesessesssssssssssssssssssnnnnns S 2,358,926 S 5,817,337

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE .ttt ettt ettt e e s nre s S 621,042 S 93,995
DUE t0 Other FUNS....coiiiieeeee e e e e e e - -
TOtal l1abilitieS.cueuireeeiirreniireniirreniireneiereenierenesereasiereneseesssssrsnssssensssssnssesennsnns 621,042 93,995

Fund balances:

Assigned for

City Park Capital OuUtlay.......ccoueeeriiieeee e 1,737,884 5,723,342
Total fund balances.......ceeeeciiirieecicrreecccerrree e e e e e e s na s s e s e eenns 1,737,884 5,723,342
Total liabilities and fund balances...........cccccceeeeeeeriieicciirssseeeeeeeeeeeeecessssnneen: S 2,358,926 S 5,817,337
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - City Park Project

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement A-4
Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings.........cooveeeeeeerveecvesreennens S - S 10,745 S 77,622 S 88,367 S 88,367
Parks and Recreation Trust Fund Grant........ 335,000 - - - (335,000)
Miscellaneous grants..........cccecoveeeecueeeeennennnn. 150,000 - 135,000 135,000 (15,000)
TOLal FEVENUES.....cveeerrerrresresesessnessessnasneanes 485,000 10,745 212,622 223,367 (261,633)

Expenditures

Professional Services........oovuvvveeeeveveveveeeeeeennns 807,860 580,207 101,905 682,112 125,748
Land PUrchase......ccccoovevvieeeiiiiieeeeee e, 661,779 662,584 - 662,584 (805)
Capital Outlay - Buildings........ccccceeevveernnennn. 1,025,883 - 425,255 425,255 600,628
CoNSErUCtiON......eeeeciieeeiee e 7,009,029 88,527 4,605,025 4,693,552 2,315,477
Utility Contstruction..........cceeeveeieieeenciveeens 634,870 - 578,306 578,306 56,564
CoNtiNgENCY...coeeieeeeeeeeeceeaeee 60,375 - - - 60,375
Total expenditures........ccceereveenccerreeennncennnees 10,199,796 1,331,318 5,710,491 7,041,809 3,157,987
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (9,714,796) (1,320,573) (5,497,869) (6,818,442) 2,896,354

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for

capital improvements.........ccccoceeveeeenneenn. 3,091,326 1,213,915 1,512,411 2,726,326 (365,000)
From Utility Fund for
capital improvements.........cccceceeveeeenneenn. 793,470 - - - (793,470)
Installment purchase obligations
LY U1 TS 5,830,000 5,830,000 - 5,830,000 -
Total other financing sources (uses)............... 9,714,796 7,043,915 1,512,411 8,556,326  (1,158,470)

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses.............c..c..... S - S 5,723,342 (3,985,458) S 1,737,884 S 1,737,884
Fund balance, July 1.......ccooveeciiiiicieeeiieeees 5,723,342
Fund balance, June 30........ccccovvereeeeerereeecnnn. S 1,737,884
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Non-Major
Governmental Funds

Non-major governmental funds are those funds whose
revenues, expenditures/expenses, assets or liabilities
are less than 10% of corresponding totals for all
governmental or enterprise funds or less than 5% of the
aggregate amount for all governmental and enterprise
funds for the same item.

The Mebane Mills Loft Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG) Special Revenue Fund - This
fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns
Building into subsidized housing.

The White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation
Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to account
for the construction of the storm drain relocation for
the Lofts at White Furniture apartment complex
rehabilitation.

The Impact Alamance Grant Special Revenue
Fund - This fund is used to account for expenditures
related to the Impact Alamance Grant.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2018 Statement B-1
Special
Special Capital Project Revenue
Revenue Fund Fund - White Fund - Total
- CDBG - Furniture Impact Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Storm Drain Alamance Governmental
Loft Relocation Grant Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ........ccccceeeveereeereecvennnens S - S - S 19,138 S 19,138
Restricted cash......ccooeeveeieieieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 83,628 - - 83,628
Total @SSeLS...cciivrrrrrereeieieiernrreeeeenessssssesssees S 83,628 $ - S 19,138 S 102,766

Liabilties and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable..........ooevieeiiieeieeice e S - S - S - S -
Total liabilities ......cccceveeerreeeeeenennnsiiniiniiiiiiinneenenn, - - - -

Fund balances:
Restricted
Economic Development..........cccccvveeeeeincnnieeeeenn. 83,628 - - 83,628
Assigned
White Furniture Storm Drain
Relocation Capital Outlay........cccceevvvveecvneenneee. - - - -

City Park Capital Outlay.......cccceecevveevciiieeeiee e, - - 19,138 19,138
Total fund balances.......ccccccceiirrrreecciirreeecceeneeeees 83,628 - 19,138 102,766
Total liabilities and fund balances.........cccceeeeeeene. S 83,628 S - S 19,138 S 102,766
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement B-2
Capital
Special Project Fund - Special
Revenue White Revenue Total

Fund - CDBG - Furniture Fund - Impact Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Storm Drain Alamance  Governmental

Loft Relocation Grant Funds

Revenues

Program FEVENUE........c.ecveereeereerreereeireeteeeteeereessenseens S 9,632 S - S - S 9,632

Interest @arnings........ccceeeeeeee e e e 4,294 - - 4,294

Impact Alamance Grant........ccccccvvveeeeeeeiciieeeeeeeennees - - - -
Total revenues..........cceeeeeeeeeenssiiiisiscsesnnnnnnneeneeeeeen 13,926 - - 13,926
Expenditures

Engineering and

Construction Administration.........ccccoceeeeeeecnnneen.. - - - -

Small equipment......ccceeeiiieeeee e - - - -

Capital outlay - Other.......occeeeieeiiieeeeeee e, - - 29,495 29,495

Capital outlay - Equipment.........ccccooviciiiieeiceciieee. - - - -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeneneeneneeennnnn. - - 29,495 29,495
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 13,926 - (29,495) (15,569)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers from other funds.........ccccooeiviiieeiiecnnnee.. - - - -

Transfers to other funds.........cccoveieiiiiiiiieeccieee, - (214,401) - (214,401)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)......cccccceeennnnne. - (214,401) - (214,401)
Net change in fund balances...........ccccoceeeeiieeeciieenns 13,926 (214,401) (29,495) (229,970)
Fund balances - beginning..........ccccoceviiieiieiiiinnne.n. 69,702 214,401 48,633 332,736
Fund balances - ending.......ccccceceerreeerreeerrecsseeeeeesnns S 83,628 § - S 19,138 S 102,766
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Revenue Fund - CDBG - Mebane Mills Loft

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement B-3
Actual
Variance
Current Positive
Authorization Prior Years Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
CDBG ... ceiieeceee ettt S 250,000 S 250,000 $ - S 250,000 S -
Program revenue- principal receipts....... - 45,150 9,632 54,782 54,782
Program revenue- interest receipts........ - 24,552 4,294 28,846 28,846
Total revenues...........ceeeeeeeeeeniniisisicccsnnnns 250,000 319,702 13,926 333,628 83,628

Expenditures

Pedestrian improvements...........cccee..e. 56,700 56,700 - 56,700 -
Historic preservation........cccceveeeeeeeeeeeennns 145,645 145,645 - 145,645 -
Other activities......ccccoevveevccveeevciee e 27,655 27,655 - 27,655 -
Administration........ccceeeveeevieeeeciee e, 20,000 20,000 - 20,000 -
Total expenditures......c.ccceerveeenneerreeennnnnns 250,000 250,000 - 250,000 -
Revenue over (under) expenditures......... - 69,702 13,926 83,628 83,628
Net change in fund balance..........cccoveu... S - S 69,702 13,926 S 83,628 S 83,628
Fund balance, July 1.......cccoceeeviivincieneen, 69,702
Fund balance, June 30.........cccoevurerrerernn. S 83,628
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - White Furniture Storm Drain Relocation

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement B-4

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

Expenditures
Engineering and

Construction Administration........ccceeeuee.n.. S 142,646 S 142,646 S - S 142,646 S -
Capital Outlay - Other........ccccoveevvevieeieennen, 649,956 649,956 - 649,956 -
Utility Construction.........cccceeevcviieeeeecccnneennn. 52,997 52,997 - 52,997 -
CoNtiNGENCY...coeeieeeeeccececcevrraaeees - - - - -

Total expenditures.........ccceeeeeeevveeeeeeeeennnnnnnn. 845,599 845,599 - 845,599 -
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (845,599) (845,599) - (845,599) -

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for

capital improvements........c.cccceeeeveeernenn. 1,005,000 1,005,000 - 1,005,000 -
From Water and Sewer Fund for
capital improvements........c.cccceeeeveeerneenn. 55,000 55,000 - 55,000 -
Transfers to other funds:
to General Fund........ccceecveeeecieeeciee e, (212,398) - (212,398) (212,398) -
to Water and Sewer Fund........ccccceeuveen. (2,003) - (2,003) (2,003) -
Total other financing sources (uses)............... 845,599 1,060,000 (214,401) 845,599 -

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses............cc..c..... S - S 214,401 (214,401) S - S -
Fund balance, July 1......ccccooveeciiiiiciieeiieeees 214,401
Fund balance, June 30...........cccceevrrrrrreeeeeennns S -
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Revenue Fund - Impact Alamance Grant
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Statement B-5

Revenues
Impact Alamance Grant........c.c.ccccuuneeeee.

Total revenuUEs......ceeeeeeereeeeeecceereeeneeeeerennns

Expenditures
Small equipment........ccccceeeecieeeeciee e,
Capital Outlay - Other ........cccceeeennnneen.
Capital Outlay - Equipment.....................

Total expenditures.........ccceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnns

Revenue over (under) expenditures.........

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements..........cccceeeeeeennnns

Total other financing sources (uses)...........

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses..................

Fund balance, July 1.........cccooeiiiiiinnnnnen.
Fund balance, June 30.....c.ccccceeerennerrennnenen

Page 71

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
80,000 $ 80,000 S - S 80,000 $ -
80,000 80,000 - 80,000 -
17,200 16,087 - 16,087 1,113
104,800 58,006 29,495 87,501 17,299
18,000 17,274 - 17,274 726
140,000 91,367 29,495 120,862 19,138
(60,000) (11,367) (29,495) (40,862) 19,138
60,000 60,000 - 60,000 -
60,000 60,000 - 60,000 -
- S 48,633 (29,495) $ 19,138 S 19,138
48,633
S 19,138
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Proprietary Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises, where the intent of the
government's board is that the costs of providing goods
or services to the general public on a continuing basis
be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges; or where the government's board has decided
that periodic determination of net income is
appropriate for accountability purposes.

e Water and Sewer Fund - This fund is used to
account for the operations of the City’s water and
sewer system.

e Utility - Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to
account for various capital projects related to the
Water and Sewer Fund.

e Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade - Capital
Project Fund - This fund is used to account for the
construction upgrade of the City’s wastewater
treatment plant.

¢ Water Treatment Plant Stage 2 - Capital Project
Fund - This fund is used to account for stage 2 of
the construction upgrade of the City’s water
treatment plant.

¢ Water Line Extensions - Capital Project Fund -
This fund is used to account for water line
extensions for the City’s economic development
projects.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018 and 2017 Statement C-1
June 30, 2017
June 30, 2018 Restated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........ceiivieiiceeecteee ettt ettt et s S 9,227,258 $ 8,458,605
[ o T (=] [ o= 1] o TR 503,249 465,299
Accounts Receivable, Net - Dilled........eeeeiviviiiiiiiiie s 523,261 541,090
Accounts Receivable, net - UNDIlled.......cooooieeeiiieeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 238,576 217,844
Due from other GOVEIrNMENTS..........uuiiiiiiiiieeee e e 2,600 735,731
T oY Lo I =T o PSP 1,310 -
TOtAl CUIMENT @SSETS.cuuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee ettt e s e s s s s e e b b s saba b asasrsrarerenees 10,496,254 10,418,569
Non-current assets:
Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable assets.......cccccvvivcieeeiciiee e 281,094 5,099,267
Other capital assets, net of depreciation.......c..ccceeeecieeiviiee e 46,821,649 39,426,359
Total CaAPItal @SSEES..uiiii it e e e e e e 47,102,743 44,525,626
o = W g Lo Tt B o0 =] g L= R =] ST 47,102,743 44,525,626
L] & 1 I T =1 S 57,598,997 54,944,195
Deferred OULFIOWS Of F@SOUICES. ... citeuirieeirteniereeeieteniereresirtanseresesserensessssssssannnns 349,970 423,625
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources.........ccceveeeeeciirieenrccerreeennccenneees S 57,948,967 S 55,367,820
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.........covvveerieieieeeice e S 231,726 S 747,347
Accrued interest Payable........c..oo e s 47,488 15,240
Due to Other GOVEINMENTS. ...ttt e et e e e e e raae e e e e e 499,004 -
Payable from restricted aSSets........cuiuiiieciiieeiiie e e 503,249 465,299
Compensated abSENCES.........uuiii i e e a e 44,782 31,045
Long-term debt - CUMTENt.......cuiie e 744,542 737,542
General obligation bonds payable - current........cccoeeecvii e - 95,000
Total current Habilities.........eei i 2,070,791 2,091,473
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated @DSENCES. .....cuuii et e e rae e 20,268 25,702
Net Pension [Hability.......cueeri e e 207,071 280,685
Other postemployment benefits.......ccccveriiiieeeciie e 799,290 812,905
Long-term debt - NONCUITENT......cciii ittt e e e e e e e e e e e eanees 8,235,576 8,980,118
General obligation bonds payable - noncurrent..........ccccooveiiieiiiiici e, - -
Total noncurrent liabilities........viieciei i 9,262,205 10,099,410
Total [labilities...cuuueeeiieeeereeeiieeccc e cee e reenee e e e e s eena s e e e seennssssssnennnnnanns 11,332,996 12,190,883
Deferred inflows Of r@SOUICES........ccovieeeeieiiiieeeccrrreeceee s reenee e e e e sennns e essennnsnanns 80,321 10,214
Net Position
Net investment in capital @SSetS.......uiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 38,122,626 34,527,281
(61T T o ot =T ISP 8,413,024 8,639,442
Total Net POSItION......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiirrrecerrerreee s s s s s s s s s e s e s s s s e e e e sesssssnnnnnnnnns: 46,535,650 43,166,723

Total liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and net position

S 57,948,967

$ 55,367,820




City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement C-2
2018
Variance
Positive 2017 Actual
Budget Actual (Negative) Restated
Revenues
Charges for services:
W aTer SIS, e ettt eeeeens S S 2,848,670 S S 2,675,421
Sewer Charges......ccovveeeccieee e 2,632,477 2,540,697
Water and sewer taps.......ccceveevcveeeeercnveeeesennnen 120,654 111,895
TOtaAl e 5,406,390 5,601,801 195,411 5,328,013
Other operating revenues:
Other operating revenues..........cccceveevcvveeeeennnen. 1,008,375 1,124,645
TOtaAl e 679,050 1,008,375 329,325 1,124,645
Other nonoperating revenues:
(0] 1 01T U UPR USRI 193,241 794,065
Interest and investment earnings..........cccu..... 20,866 6,344
TOtaAl e 21,300 214,107 192,807 800,409
Total revenuUES.........ceuereeeiieniieeiereeiereeereeerneeeenes 6,106,740 6,824,283 717,543 7,253,067
Expenditures
Administration:

Salaries and employee benefits 666,415 488,429
SUPPHES..eveeeieiiiee ettt 37,185 97,498
Other operating expenditures.........ccccocevveeennns 155,651 190,500
TOtAleee et 1,183,825 859,251 324,574 776,427
Distribution and maintenance:

Salaries and employee benefits.........c..ccccu.. 742,145 654,091
Chemicals......cooocviveeeeiiee e 83,454 69,963
Supplies....ccccecvveeeenns 121,230 86,882
Maintenance 47,533 46,707
Purchases of water ......ccccovveeeeeiiiiieiiciireeeneen, 925,632 822,521
Highway 119 project expenses..........c.ccecuu.... 117,351 957,608
Other operating expenditures.........ccccccevveeenns 297,927 245,131

2,885,928 2,335,272 550,656 2,882,903

Waste collection and treatment:
Wastewater treatment plant:

Salaries and employee benefits.........c..c.cc.... 600,975 601,818
Chemicals......cooocvivieeeiiec s 76,353 73,530
SUPPHES..eveee ettt 35,504 32,751
MaINtENANCE......cceeeeeeeeeeevverrree e e e e eas 343,705 111,158
Other operating expenditures.........cccccccvveeennns 205,233 393,484
TOtAleee et e 1,416,779 1,261,770 155,009 1,212,741

Page 74



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement C-2
2018
Variance
Positive 2017 Actual
Budget Actual (Negative) Restated

Expenditures (continued)
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement.........cccoveeveeveeeeeeeieireenens S 894,278 S 832,542 S 61,736 S 650,542
Interest and other charges........cccccevevveeevnneenn. 163,177 133,177 30,000 151,033
TOtal e 1,057,455 965,719 91,736 801,575

Capital outlay:

Miscellaneous Water.......ccoovvvveveeeeeieieiiiecininnens 1,284,414 263,561 1,020,853 259,209
Miscellaneous SEWEeT.......cccvvvviereeeeeiiiiiiiiinneenes 73,986 138,356 (64,370) 55,755
TOtAl i 1,358,400 401,917 956,483 314,964
Total expenditures........ccccveeceiicniiinnnnennnnissinnnnnn 7,902,387 5,823,929 2,078,458 5,988,610
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over eXpenditures..........ccceveeceeenennnneeneeeeeeeennnnns (1,795,647) 1,000,354 2,796,001 1,264,457

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers iN.e..o e 37,566 37,566 - -

Transfers OUL.......ueeeveeueeeeeicreeec e (1,166,294) (1,166,294) - (800,000)
Total other financing sources (uses).................... (1,128,728) (1,128,728) - (800,000)
Fund balance appropriated........c.cccceeeveeviieenieene 2,924,375 - (2,924,375) -

Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses..........ccceeveerrerneenn. S - S (128,374) S  (128,374) S 464,457

Page 75



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) Statement C-2
2018
Variance
Positive 2017 Actual
Budget Actual (Negative) Restated

Reconciliation from budgetary basis
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other uses..........ccceceeerrenneenn. S (128,374) S 464,457
Reconciling items:

Principal retirement.........ccccooeiieiiiiei e, 832,542 650,542
Capital outlays......ccceeeeeciieiiieiieeeecee e 401,917 314,964
Loss on disposals........ccccveeeiiciieieeiciiee e - (9,274)
Increase (decrease) in receivable allowance....... 45,400 38,755
Increase (decrease) in unbilled receivables......... 20,733 501
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest

PaYable. ... (32,248) 1,756
(Increase) decrease in accrued salaries

ANA WAEES..ccc ittt et eevee e - 3,696
(Increase) decrease in vacation pay.......ccccceeeennne (8,304) 10,602
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - PeNSIONS......cccuveeeeecvveeeeeciiieeeeenns (79,321) 235,177
(Increase) decrease in net pension liability.......... 73,613 (222,639)
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - PeNSIONS......cccuveeeeecveeeeeecirieeeeenns 3,959 18,981
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - OPEB.......coooviiiiiiiiiiniieeeeeeeeeeeeeans 7,630 -
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - OPEB..........ccceevveeieeciieee e, (74,067) -
(Increase) decrease in OPEB liability.................... 13,615 (386,773)
Depreciation........ccueeeeeciieicccciiee e (1,268,489) (1,144,524)
Amortization of deferred loss

on refunding......ccccoveeiiciiiiiccee e, (1,964) (2,676)

Capital contributions..........cccceeeeeeiiiieeicciieee e 2,508,340 465,220
Interest income from Water and Sewer

Capital Project Funds...........coccoueeeeeiiieeccciieeen, 7,429 1,487

Capitalized interest on borrowings
during construction

Interest CoOStS...uuniiiiiiiiiiiee e - 60,515
Investment earnings on borrowed funds........ - (1,487)
Net Transfers to (from) Capital Project funds...... 1,046,516 800,000
Total reconciling items.......coocvveveevciiee e 3,497,301 834,823
Change in net position........cccecveeeeeveeeeerreeneenns S 3,368,927 S 1,299,280
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

Capital Project Fund - Utility
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Statement C-3

Actual

Authorization Prior Years

Variance
Positive

Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Capital Outlay - other........cccoeevveveeeennns S 200,000 $ - S - S - S 200,000

Professional services.........ccovvvevevvveveennnns 58,000 - - - 58,000

Supplies and meters........cccveeecveeevreene 50,000 - 46,174 46,174 3,826

Meters and registers........cccceeveecuvveeeeeennne 368,294 - 160,390 160,390 207,904

Professional services.........ccuvevvvveeveveennns 25,000 - 25,240 25,240 (240)

Capital Outlay - other........c.cccoeeveeeennennn. 416,000 - 336,726 336,726 79,274

Professional services.........ccvvvvevevvvevevnnnes 49,000 - 39,305 39,305 9,695
Total expenditures.........ccceeeeeeeeveneeennnnes 1,166,294 - 607,835 607,835 558,459
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (1,166,294) - (607,835) (607,835) 558,459
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Operating transfers in:

From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... 1,166,294 800,000 1,166,294 1,966,294 800,000

Total other financing sources (uses)......... 1,166,294 800,000 1,166,294 1,966,294 800,000
Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses................ S - S 800,000 S 558,459 S 1,358,459 S 1,358,459
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

Capital Project Fund - Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement C-4

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Professional Services.....ccoovveeeeveereeneen. S 184,658 S 184,658 S - S 184,658 § -
Professional services- generator........... 77,661 74,461 3,200 77,661 -
CoNnstruction......cceecveeeeceeeeeciee e 1,505,479 1,505,479 - 1,505,479 -
CoNtiNgeNCY...ccoeeeeeieceeervvereaens 5,300,000 - - - 5,300,000
WWTP Lab- Professional Services.......... 42,832 42,831 - 42,831 1
WWTP Lab- Construction.........ccccuee.ne. 426,076 426,077 - 426,077 (1)
Total expenditures........ccceveeeeneeerreeennnnns 7,536,706 2,233,506 3,200 2,236,706 5,300,000
Revenue over (under) expenditures...... (7,536,706)  (2,233,506) (3,200) (2,236,706) 5,300,000

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
WWTP capital improvements............ 2,177,000 2,177,000 - 2,177,000 -
From Southside Fire Station
Capital Project Fund for

WWTP capital improvements............ 80,000 80,000 - 80,000 -
Transfers to other funds:
Water and Sewer Fund...................... (20,294) - (20,294) (20,294) -
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUBM...veeeeiiee et 5,300,000 - - - (5,300,000)
Total other financing sources (uses)....... 7,536,706 2,257,000 (20,294) 2,236,706 (5,300,000)
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses............... S - S 23,494 S (23,494) S - S -
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
Capital Project Fund - Water Treatment Plant Stage 2

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 Statement C-5

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings.......cceevveevveverneenne. 21,082 S 18,452 S 3,493 S 21,945 S (863)
Total revenues......ccccvveeiireeeierenecereneeenenes 21,082 18,452 3,493 21,945 (863)
Expenditures
Professional services........cccveveevevreeeienennns 480,889 480,888 - 480,888 1
CoNnStruCtion........cccveeeeieieeeciee e 1,929,881 1,929,879 - 1,929,879 2
Interest on borrowings.........ccccccvveevvnenn. 9,649 9,649 - 9,649 -
Farrar Land Pump Station...........cccceeeeee. 315,175 - 315,175 315,175 -
CoNtiNgeNCY...cooeveeeieceivveverereaes - - - - -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnns 2,735,594 2,420,416 315,175 2,735,591 3
Revenue over (under) expenditures........ (2,714,512) (2,401,964) (311,682) (2,713,646) 866
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for

WWTP capital improvements.............. 157,043 157,043 - 157,043 -
Transfers to other funds:

Water and Sewer Fund...........c........... (15,269) - (15,269) (15,269) -
Refunding costs.......cccoevieeeeiiiceciieccnee, (965,562) (965,561) - (965,561) 1
Installment purchase obligations

1 U= 3,538,300 3,538,300 - 3,538,300 -

Total other financing sources (uses).......... 2,714,512 2,729,782 (15,269) 2,714,513 1
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................. - S 327,818 S (326,951) $ 867 S 867
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
Capital Project Fund - Water Line Extensions

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Statement C-6

Revenues
Investment earnings..........coeeeeeveiccennnnnns

Total revenues......ceeeeeeerreeeeeeeceeeeeeenneeeens

Expenditures
Professional services........cocceeeevveeecvveeenns
Easements.....ccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiicine e
Utility construction........ccceccveeeecveeennneen.
Force Main Project........ccccvvvveveveeeeeeeeennns

Total expenditures..........cceevvveeeennnennnnnnes

Revenue over (under) expenditures.......

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUBT...eeeieiiee ittt

Total other financing sources (uses).........
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................

Actual

Variance

Total to Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Date (Negative)
14,811 $ 14,118 S 922 $ 15,040 ¢ (229)
14,811 14,118 922 15,040 (229)
287,030 300,752 - 300,752 (13,722)
88,275 88,274 - 88,274 1
1,647,373 1,647,373 - 1,647,373 -
103,833 - 90,339 90,339 13,494
2,126,511 2,036,399 90,339 2,126,738 (227)
(2,111,700)  (2,022,281) (89,417) (2,111,698) 2

2,111,700 2,111,700 - 2,111,700 -

2,111,700 2,111,700 - 2,111,700 -
- S 89,419 $ (89,417) S 2 S 2
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Additional
Financial Data

This section contains additional information on property
taxes and interfund transfers.

e Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
e Analysis of Current Tax Levy

e Schedule of Ten Largest Taxpayers







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

June 30, 2018 Schedule D-1
Uncollected Uncollected
Balance Collections Balance
Fiscal Year 6/30/2017 Additions and Credits 6/30/2018
2007-2018....c ettt s e e e s S - $ 9,815,332 $ 9,785,748 S 29,584
2006-2017 et a e e e e e e e e e e e as 43,882 - 36,289 7,593
2015-2016. ... e e e e e e e aaeaeaeas 11,872 - 4,304 7,568
2004-2015... e e e e e e e e e e e e s 8,149 - 2,550 5,599
2013-2014... e e e e e e e e e e e e 9,350 - 1,952 7,398
2002-2013.. e e e e e e e e e e e e e s 8,914 - 1,158 7,756
20070-2002. e e e e e e e e e e e e e s 7,400 - 980 6,420
2000-201 1. e e e e e e e e e e e e e e as 8,367 - 793 7,574
2009-2010.. . ueuuiiinininirrnrerrrrrrrrrrerrreree e e e e e e e eaaaaaeeeas 7,133 - 857 6,276
2008-20009.....c uuuuuuinieinininrrrrrrrrrrrre e et eraaaaeeeas 8,350 - 1,267 7,083
2007-2008......cuuuuuuuunininrnrirererrirrrrrerrererrere e reerereretateaeees 8,410 - 8,410 -
S 121,827 S 9,815,332 S 9,844,308 92,851
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (General FUNd)........oooccviiiicieeecciiie e 11,164
Ad valorem taxXes reCeiVable - NET.......vveiiieeiiieeiiiieiiirenieieeisreneiereasesssseseressssssssssranssssssssssensssssnsnes S 81,687

Reconciliation with revenues:

Ad valorem taxes - GENEIal FUNG.......uuuieiiiiiiiiiiieieieieeeeee ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e e e s e s s s s s s e s aaasearaasrerareeees S 9,851,605
Add (subtract):
Penalties and interest, Net Of diSCOUNTS.........vviiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb (3,930)
Amount written off for tax year 2007-2008...........cccoveeiieeeeiieeeeiieeereee et e e e e e seaeeesreeeeseaeesnees 8,410
Refunds and other adjUuStMENTS........coiiiiie i e e e e tre e e e s e e e saaeeeesnreeeeanes (11,777)
Total coOllections AN CreditS......ccciireeiirreeiireeiireneiereeeiierenieressseerssseressessssssessssssssssssssasssssssssssanssssnn: S 9,844,308
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule D-2

City - Wide Total Levy
Property
Excluding
Registered Registered
Total Property Amount of Motor. Motor_
Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles
Tax levy:
Real Property ....ccceevveeveeereeieeereeereeesneens $1,519,215,965 0.47 S 7,140,315 $§ 7,140,315 S -
Personal property .....ccccceeeeeciiieeeiceccineen. 576,423,148 0.47 2,709,189 2,060,559 648,630
Public service companies........ccceccvverunenn. 21,265,042 0.47 99,946 99,946 -
SUDLOTalS....evevieeieeciecee e, 2,116,904,155 9,949,450 9,300,820 648,630
Less: Homestead exemptions................... (6,231,130) 0.47 (29,286) (29,286) -
Lo 1 - £ $ 2,110,673,025 9,920,164 9,271,534 648,630
Advertising, interest cost and
late filing fees...cccvvviiiriiiieeece 6,359 6,359 -
GrOSS lEVY..uiiiiieeeeciie ettt 9,926,523 9,277,893 648,630
Release and adjustments...........ccceeveeneen. (111,191) (111,191) -
NEL IEVY.eiiuiiiiieeiee ettt 9,815,332 9,166,702 648,630
Uncollected taxes
atJune 30, 2018.....cccccvveviieeieenieeee e 29,584 29,584 -
Current year taxes collected.................. $ 9,785,748 $ 9,137,118 S 648,630
Current levy collection percentage........ 99.70% 99.68% 100.00%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 Schedule D-3

Secondary Market Disclosures:
Assessed Valuation:

Assessment Ratio (NOTE 1)...cccuiieeuieeeiiiieeiee et 100%
Current Year Rate Prior Year Rate
REAI PrOPEItY....viieeectieticteecteeeee ettt ettt eee et eete s ereenteenee e S 1,519,215,965 S -
Personal Property......ceeeei it aar e e 571,603,999 4,819,149
Public service companies (NOte 2).......cccceeeeciiieeiieeeciieeeciee e, 21,265,042 -
Total Assessed Valuation........cooeeeeeeeieiiiinnrnneieniieirieeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeenes 2,112,085,006 4,819,149
Tax Rate Per S100......ccvcvuiieiiiieeeeeeeeeeete et eete e ere e s sae s 0.47 0.47
9,926,800 22,650
LEVY . cevieteeete ettt et et ettt e et ettt e et e ettt e et eebe et e eabeebeeteeateereereens S 9,949,450

Note 1: Percentage of appraised value has been established by statute.
Note 2: Valuation of railroads, telephone companies and other utilities
as determined by the North Carolina Property Tax Commission.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ten Largest Taxpayers
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 Schedule D-4
Percentage
of Total
Assessed Assessed
Name Type of Enterprise Valuation Tax Levy  Valuation
GKN Automotive
ComMpPoNeNtsS.......uvvvieeeeeeeeeeeeerereeens Auto Components Manufacturing............. $104,366,138 $ 511,394 4.94%
Wal-Mart......coooeevcieeeeiee e, 0] = R 75,885,653 S 371,840 3.60%
Liggett Group - One Hundred
Maple, LLC....ceecvreeeeiee e, Tobacco Manufacturing........ccccceceeeeennenn. 74,641,045 S 365,741 3.54%
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company)........ Plastics Manufacturing..........cccceeeceveeernneenn. 46,747,189 $ 229,061 2.21%
Tanger Piedmont, LLC.................... 2 0] - 1| SR 43,879,241 S 215,008 2.08%
Morinaga America Foods, Inc........ Japanese confectionery......c.ccccceeeveeernnenn. 35,843,403 $ 175,633 1.70%
Sandvik, INC..eeeeeveeeeiieeiieeeceees Metal CUttiNg.....cccccveeeeiieecee e 35,135,527 S 172,164 1.66%
Gregory Poole Equipment
COMPANY..utiiiiiiiiiiirrririererererereeeeees Equipment Sales and Leasing..................... 28,322,036 $ 138,778 1.34%
Cambro Manufacturing Co............ Restaurant Supplier......ccccoeevevevcieeeccieeens 25,649,645 § 125,683 1.22%
Armacell LLC......oooveveveeennrennnns Foam technologies.........ccceccvvvevcveeecieeennns 24,941,923 S 122,215 1.18%
$495,411,800 $ 2,427,518 23.47%
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Statistical Section

This part of the City of Mebane’s comprehensive annual
financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information say about the government’s
overall financial health.

e Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend
information to help the reader understand how the
government’s financial performance and well-being have
changed over time.

e Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain
information to help the reader assess the government’s
most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

e Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to
help the reader assess the affordability of the
government’s current levels of outstanding debt and the
government’s ability to issue additional debt in the
future.

e Demographic and Economic Information - These
schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within
which the government’s financial activities take place.

e Operating Information - These schedules contain
service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the government’s
financial report relates to the services the government
provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these
schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual financial
report for the relevant year.




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Net investment in capital assets.........cccoevereererveevennane $ 19,329,954 $ 21,705,437 S 24,920,842 $ 26,347,904 S 28,863,807
RESLIICLE. . .viiieiieeceee e 1,000,710 845,711 1,110,038 497,614 755,213
UNrestricted.....cocveeeeiiecceee e 10,824,598 11,125,637 10,682,320 9,863,083 10,432,825
Total governmental activities net position................ $ 31,155,262 $ 33,676,785 S 36,713,200 $ 36,708,601 S 40,051,845
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.........cccocveeerervervennane $ 23,967,839 $ 24,612,653 S 25,132,355 §$ 25,760,951 S 29,700,671
LT 4 T =T OSSR - - - - -
Unrestricted... 8,384,291 9,163,444 9,154,905 10,903,051 8,348,062
Total business-type activities net position................. $ 32,352,130 $ 33,776,097 S 34,287,260 $ 36,664,002 S 38,048,733
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets.........cccoeveeererveevennane $ 43,297,793 $ 46,318,090 S 50,053,197 $ 52,108,855 S 58,564,478
Restricted.......ccovveeecieeciieeecieeen, 1,000,710 845,711 1,110,038 497,614 755,213
Unrestricted 19,208,889 20,289,081 19,837,225 20,766,134 18,780,887
Total primary government activities net position...... $ 63,507,392 $ 67,452,882 S 71,000,460 $ 73,372,603 S 78,100,578

Governmental Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Net investment in capital assets.........cccoevereererveevennane $ 33,039,857 $ 32,011,821 S 34,801,671 $ 30,319,096 S 40,610,954
RESLIICLE. . .viiieiieeceee e 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579
UNrestricted......ccveeeeiiecciee et 6,195,064 5,185,319 7,502,406 14,338,635 6,147,464
Total governmental activities net position................ $ 41,829,162 $ 42,422,887 S 44,893,693 $ 47,273,164 S 49,515,997
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.........cccocveeerervervennane $ 31,622,606 S 33,155,614 S 34,178,396 S 34,527,281 S 38,122,626
LT 4 T =T OSSR - - - - -
Unrestricted... 6,415,219 5,635,431 7,589,047 8,948,578 8,413,024
Total business-type activities net position................. $ 38,037,825 $ 38,791,045 S 41,767,443 S 43,475,859 S 46,535,650
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets.........cccoeveeererveevennane $ 64,662,463 $ 65,167,435 S 68,980,067 S 64,846,377 S 78,733,580
Restricted.......ccovveeecieeciieeecieeen, 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579
Unrestricted 12,610,283 10,820,750 15,091,453 23,287,213 14,560,488
Total primary government activities net position...... $ 79,866,987 $ 81,213,932 S 86,661,136 $ 90,749,023 S 96,051,647

Notes:

(1) Fiscal years presented prior to 2011 have been restated to reflect the changes required by GASB

Statement No. 54.

(2) 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035; 2017 includes a prior period restatement of $15,099;
2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860; 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756);
2011 includes a prior period restatement of $230,000; 2010 includes a prior period restatement of $(279,161);

2009 includes prior period restatements of $323,564 and $(283,174).

Business-type Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2

(Page 1 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt. ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on long-term debt.........cceiriririninenenncce s

Total governmental activities expense:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiici e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and contribUtioNS.......c..coueeviiriiinenincnecccrceeeeeeens

Total governmental activities program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions...

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs.
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous.........cccevevvueureiiuennenne
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic development.
Transfers

Total governmental activitie:

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings...
Miscellaneous
TEANSTEIS. .ttt

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental aCHIVITIES. ....c.covveiririiret s
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. .eiueieieieieeiieeie e

Change in primary government net position

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
1,468,861 $ 1,663,985 $ 1,753,985 $ 1,854,901 $ 2,143,420
3,447,735 4,207,196 3,863,952 4,107,505 4,571,950
1,717,557 1,850,162 2,800,765 2,802,874 2,879,581
952,090 1,015,382 1,091,761 1,167,086 1,224,727
171,038 345,051 202,085 402,748 207,551
227,537 201,996 176,371 150,948 132,923
7,984,818 9,283,772 9,888,919 10,486,062 11,160,152
3,545,224 3,607,648 3,923,837 3,913,101 3,901,404
3,545,224 3,607,648 3,923,837 3,913,101 3,901,404
11,530,042 12,891,420 13,812,756 14,399,163 15,061,556
55,801 57,150 54,800 58,255 58,381
118,440 181,616 209,242 104,563 130,897
313,800 331,857 318,183 318,717 316,398
81,742 83,836 79,972 75,649 74,518
435,425 303,803 321,016 338,677 397,732

19,443 1,282,843 1,698,372 858,449 2,013,681

1,024,651 2,241,105 2,681,585 1,754,310 2,991,607
3,717,104 3,510,744 3,942,483 4,322,571 4,732,814
368,356 510,712 471,250 284,300 1,051,250
4,085,460 4,021,456 4,413,733 4,606,871 5,784,064
5,110,111 6,262,561 7,095,318 6,361,181 8,775,671
(6,960,167) (7,042,667) (7,207,334) (8,731,752) (8,168,545)
540,236 413,808 489,896 693,770 1,882,660
(6,419,931) (6,628,859) (6,717,438) (8,037,982) (6,285,885)
6,181,452 6,726,223 6,805,448 7,376,275 7,640,328
1,906,140 2,378,979 2,617,082 2,973,118 3,297,348
866,810 370,000 4,770 3,045 4,000
165,200 47,149 22,532 14,422 11,943
34,615 41,839 793,917 10,293 40,670

5,188 - - (1,650,000) 517,500

9,159,405 9,564,190 10,243,749 8,727,153 11,511,789
106,519 27,306 14,608 31,212 9,706
263,381 982,853 6,659 1,760 9,865

(5,188) - - 1,650,000 (517,500)
364,712 1,010,159 21,267 1,682,972 (497,929)

9,524,117 10,574,349 10,265,016 10,410,125 11,013,860
2,199,238 2,521,523 3,036,415 (4,599) 3,343,244
904,948 1,423,967 511,163 2,376,742 1,384,731
3,104,186 $ 3,945,490 $ 3,547,578 $ 2,372,143 $ 4,727,975
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2
(Page 2 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt. ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on lonNg-term debt.........cceciviririrenenenerce e

Total governmental activities exper

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiici e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and contribUtioNS.......c..coueeviiriiininencneccccneeeeees

Total governmental activities program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions...

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs.
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous..........cccvevvueureiiucnnnne
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic development.
Transfers

Total governmental activitie:

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings...
Miscellaneous
TEANSTEIS. .ttt

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental aCHIVITIES. ....c.covveiririiret s
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. .eiueieieieieeiieeie e

Change in primary government net position

Notes:

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
2,133,862 $ 2,130,084 $ 2,058,889 $ 2,023,497 $ 2,227,259
4,400,496 4,929,504 5,521,196 6,132,593 6,567,770
3,887,001 3,848,791 4,169,363 3,907,270 3,885,804
1,179,235 1,163,723 1,288,321 1,195,553 1,301,845
1,137,040 584,532 1,415,831 461,389 1,879,946
151,011 178,086 156,676 174,166 300,632
12,888,645 12,834,720 14,610,276 13,894,468 16,163,256
4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854 6,039,261
4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854 6,039,261
17,381,840 17,123,677 19,536,741 20,034,322 22,202,517
60,900 45,470 213,347 58,291 60,580

12,986 13,964 13,905 21,135 19,941
355,012 338,920 420,613 401,609 422,237
75,170 77,245 85,535 86,690 87,018
222,071 287,110 374,248 427,814 391,359
667,594 498,060 448,823 574,891 934,764
912,272 2,157,849 972,045 639,266 3,380,460

2,306,005 3,418,618 2,528,516 2,209,696 5,296,359
5,041,627 5,316,218 7,399,492 6,491,915 6,676,309
203,400 196,230 1,376,780 465,220 2,508,340
5,245,027 5,512,448 8,776,272 6,957,135 9,184,649
7,551,032 8,931,066 11,304,788 9,166,831 14,481,008

(10,582,640) (9,416,102) (12,081,760) (11,684,772) (10,866,897)
751,832 1,223,491 3,849,807 817,281 3,145,388
(9,830,808) (8,192,611) (8,231,953) (10,867,491) (7,721,509)
8,054,225 8,572,861 8,859,077 9,751,487 10,279,056
3,519,938 4,105,041 4,188,891 4,299,798 4,563,646

7,000 4,500 12,509 3,050 3,050
2,096 4,083 6,399 25,200 129,302
(7,678) 60,600 41,404 69,609 164,578
- (2,691,591) B _ )
784,376 393,092 965,000 - (2,003)
12,359,957 10,448,586 14,073,280 14,149,144 15,137,629
5,801 259 2,244 6,344 28,295
15,835 15,559 22,773 784,791 193,241
(784,376) (393,092) (965,000) - 2,003
(762,740) (377,274) (939,983) 791,135 223,539

11,597,217 10,071,312 13,133,297 14,940,279 15,361,168
1,777,317 1,032,484 1,991,520 2,464,372 4,270,732
(10,908) 846,217 2,909,824 1,608,416 3,368,927
1,766,409 $ 1,878,701 $ 4,901,344 $ 4,072,788 $ 7,639,659

(1) 2018 inclused a prior period restatement of $2,337,035; 2017 includes a prior period statement of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement
of $545,860; 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756); 2011 includes a prior period restatement of $230,000; 2010 includes a prior perioc

restatement of $4,013; 2009 includes prior period restatements of $323,564 and $(2,899); 2008 includes a prior period restatement of $(280,275)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
General Fund
NONSPENdable........coeivieieeecieceeeeec s S - S - S - S - S -
T ot =T IS RURRUPRUSUPPRNY 1,000,710 845,711 1,110,040 497,614 755,213
CoOMMItEEd....ceviiiciieceeee e e - - - - -
ASSIZNEU...ciiiieiiiie ettt 777,851 1,661,531 1,888,098 1,556,073 1,586,386
UNASSIGNEU....ciiiiiiiiiiieccite ettt e e sane e 9,306,177 9,497,290 8,865,523 8,636,871 9,309,149

Total general fund $ 11,084,738

$ 12,004,532 $ 11,863,661 $ 10,690,558 S 11,650,748

All Other Governmental Funds

NONSPENAADIE.....ccviviereeicticticreceeree ettt S - S - S - S - S -
(2T 4T =T P - - - - -
COMMILEEd.c..eieieerieeieeee e - - - - -
ASSIBNED. . ververeeeeeeereeeseeeeeeesseeseeseeesesesasessessesesenesesessse e 851,001 (38,414) (350) (4,500) 316,850
UNQ@SSIZNEU......uiiiieeieeieeeiee et e et e - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds $ 851,001 $ (38,414) $ (350) $ (4,500) S 316,850
Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENdable........cceiveeiiieieeeeeeee e S - S - S - S - S -
RESTIICLE. .. iiiiiiiie ettt 1,000,710 845,711 1,110,040 497,614 755,213
(070 441 41 =Y S - - - - -
ASSIZNEU...ciiiiiiiiie ettt e 1,628,852 1,623,117 1,887,748 1,551,573 1,903,236
UNASSIZNEU....ciiiiiiiiiiieccire ettt esiaee e saae e 9,306,177 9,497,290 8,865,523 8,636,871 9,309,149

Total governmental funds $ 11,935,739

$ 11,966,118 S 11,863,311 $ 10,686,058 $ 11,967,598

Fund Balances - General Fund
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

General Fund

NONSPENAADIE....c..eieeecieeeee e S 20,511 §$ 27,361 S 116,295 $ 51,005 $ 131,945

Restricted..... 2,566,389 5,183,933 2,533,840 2,545,731 2,673,951

Committed - - - - -

ASSIZNEU...ciiiiiiiiie ettt et 1,543,138 1,549,082 1,419,254 1,803,854 1,828,000

UNASSIBNEU....ciiiiiiiiiiieecire ettt st e e 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988 7,563,514
Total general fund $ 10,742,610 $ 11,751,378 S 11,447,179 $ 13,484,578 S 12,197,410
All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable $ - S - $ - S - S -

YT 1 Lot o =T R 27,852 41,814 55,776 69,702 83,628

COMMILEEd. . .eiiiieriieeieee e - - - - -

ASSIBNEU. ..ttt 1,925,422 1,181,066 640,198 5,986,376 1,757,022

UNASSIGNEM....ciiiiiiiiiieeete et - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds S 1,953,274 S 1,222,880 S 695,974 S 6,056,078 S 1,840,650
Total Governmental Funds

NONSPENAADIE....c..eieeeeieceee e S 20,511 §$ 27,361 S 116,295 $ 51,005 $ 131,945

Restricted..... 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579

Committed - - - - -

F X 74 o 1=Yo IO PSPPI 3,468,560 2,730,148 2,059,452 7,790,230 3,585,022

UNASSIGNEU....ciiiiiiiiiiiecciie ettt et e e 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988 7,563,514

Total governmental funds

$ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 $ 12,143,153

S 19,540,656

$ 14,038,060

Notes:

(1) Fiscal years presented prior to 2011 have been restated to reflect the changes required by GASB

Statement No. 54.

Fund Balances - All Other Governmental Funds
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS......coevuvveeeiieiiriieeeeeecireee e eeerrree e e eeeareeeeeeeaes S 6,051,214 §$ 6,349,231 $ 6,527,203 §$ 6,963,505 $ 7,322,698

Other taxes and [ICENSES........uuevieeeceeiieieeeeee e 1,608,851 14,040 19,855 19,253 189,355

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........ccceevveeiiieeiiieeesneeens 835,870 2,396,729 3,184,785 3,183,950 3,136,030

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccecveveevierceeceesee e 706,142 805,095 641,518 686,429 695,117

Permits and fEES......cuveiiieicrriee ettt 159,173 236,153 239,333 115,955 136,214

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....cccevveieee ittt 345,139 356,106 364,014 378,424 382,049

INVeStMENt @arNINGS....cccovviviiiieiriiiee et 188,700 47,149 22,532 14,422 11,943

IMIISCEIIANEOUS... ettt ettt e e e e e e eeaaans 169,980 98,903 107,047 86,011 112,033
TOTAl FEVENUES...ccuiuieiitiieiiiiiataittetatsitetassresasssrasasssrasasssrens 10,065,069 10,303,406 11,106,287 11,447,949 11,985,439
Expenditures

General GOVEINMENT........cccovevievreeeerereteseeeeeeesesesesesesesesesesens 1,391,877 1,542,016 1,600,612 1,676,324 1,950,508

PUDBIIC Safety...ccciieciiieciie e 3,287,593 3,832,452 4,298,873 3,872,971 4,157,723

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiiiciieiiee ettt eaneeas 2,077,510 2,085,645 3,125,067 3,102,904 2,818,822

Cultural and recreation........cccveeeeeccveeeeeeeeireeeeeeeeireeeeeeennees 1,181,615 321,052 1,074,413 1,152,466 1,110,864

Economic and physical development 171,179 735,745 178,908 204,146 505,146

Debt service:

PLINCIPAL ceeierieeeeee ettt ettt aeans 789,142 697,638 707,641 613,255 426,667
Interest and other charges........cccoevveevcveecviee v 234,778 207,030 181,520 155,859 135,000

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiieiiecceecee s 2,587,725 851,449 42,060 197,277 116,669
Total expenditures 11,721,419 10,273,027 11,209,094 10,975,202 11,221,399
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiiiiiiinn (1,656,350) 30,379 (102,807) 472,747 764,040
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds.........cccooooieiiiiiieciicceee e, - (191,531) (64,144) (1,650,000) (245,000)

Transfers from other funds.........ccceveeiiiiiiiiicieec s - 191,531 64,144 - 762,500

ISSUANCE OF deDt...ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiceecti e - - - - -
Total other financing SOUrces (USEs)......cceeereeeeereeeeereeeeeranne - - - (1,650,000) 517,500
Net change in fund balances..........cccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiinnnnns (1,656,350) 30,379 (102,807) (1,177,253) 1,281,540
Fund balances, beginning... 13,592,089 11,935,739 11,966,118 11,863,311 10,686,058
Prior period adjustment.........ccceeeiviiiiiiieiiiieeeeee e - - - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........ccccccceeviieiniiennnnenn. 13,592,089 11,935,739 11,966,118 11,863,311 10,686,058
Fund balances, ending...................... . $ 11,935,739 $ 11,966,118 S 11,863,311 $ 10,686,058 S 11,967,598
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures.........cccceeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiinieineneneeeeenn. 12.7% 10.0% 9.3% 7.7% 5.5%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS......coevuvveeeiieiiriieeeeeecireee e eeerrree e e eeeareeeeeeeaes S 7,705,045 §$ 8,207,631 S 8,436,102 §$ 9,349,863 S 9,851,605

Other taxes and [ICENSES........uuevieeeceeiieieeeeee e 199,935 190,058 795 960 1,005

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........ccceevveeiiieeiiieeesneeens 3,323,889 5,033,302 4,191,306 4,427,170 4,866,039

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccecveveevierceeceesee e 1,497,810 893,277 880,010 904,619 1,265,968

Permits and fEES......cuveiiieicrriee ettt 244,104 320,358 606,212 482,809 411,580

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....cccevveieee ittt 416,084 392,832 433,014 444,814 462,033

INVeStMENt @arNINGS....cccovviviiiieiriiiee et 17,190 1,746 6,363 25,200 129,302

IMIISCEIIANEOUS... ettt ettt e e e e e e eeaaans 94,753 260,119 155,294 270,538 322,138
TOTAl FEVENUES...ccuiuieiitiieiiiiiataittetatsitetassresasssrasasssrasasssrens 13,498,810 15,299,323 14,709,096 15,905,973 17,309,670
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT.......cveieerieeeereeste et e e te e e see s 2,087,742 2,094,055 2,151,509 1,997,039 2,244,898

PUDBIIC Safety...ccciieciiieciie e 5,091,637 4,901,955 5,414,023 6,171,044 6,526,581

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiiiciieiiee ettt eaneeas 3,708,213 3,708,075 3,733,538 3,268,769 3,400,679

Cultural and recreation........cccveeeeeccveeeeeeeeireeeeeeeeireeeeeeennees 1,195,637 1,318,029 1,466,564 1,056,609 1,828,941

Economic and physical development 3,832,902 703,466 1,466,432 703,062 1,878,174

Debt service:

[ AT g Tl o Y-S 426,667 833,854 835,083 836,338 1,316,286
Interest and other charges........cccoevveevcveecviee v 119,484 182,646 161,067 139,372 306,592

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiieiiecceecee s 1,437,893 2,138,037 1,276,985 634,567 5,739,986
Total expenditures 17,900,175 15,880,117 16,505,201 14,806,800 23,242,137
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiiiiiiinn (4,401,365) (580,794) (1,796,105) 1,099,173 (5,932,467)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds.........cccooooieiiiiiieciicceee e, (245,000) (1,450,000) (856,734) (60,000) (1,726,812)

Transfers from other funds.........ccceveeiiiiiiiiicieec s 1,029,376 1,843,092 1,821,734 60,000 1,724,810

ISSUANCE OF deDt...ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiceecti e 4,345,275 - - 6,298,330 431,873
Total other financing sources (USes)......cccevuveereeeeeerrnneeeeennans 5,129,651 393,092 965,000 6,298,330 429,871
Net change in fund balances..........cccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiinnnnns 728,286 (187,702) (831,105) 7,397,503 (5,502,596)
Fund balances, beginning... 11,967,598 12,695,884 12,974,258 12,143,153 19,540,656
Prior period adjustment.........ccceeeiviiiiiiieiiiieeeeee e - 466,076 - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........ccccccceeviieiniiennnnenn. 11,967,598 13,161,960 12,974,258 12,143,153 19,540,656
Fund balances, ending..................... . $ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 S 12,143,153 $§ 19,540,656 S 14,038,060
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures.........cccceeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiinieineneneeeeenn. 4.6% 8.2% 7.0% 7.4% 10.3%

Notes:
(1) 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $466,076.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 5
Ratio of
Assessed
Total Value to
Less Tax- Direct Estimated
Fiscal Personal Public Service Exempt Total Taxable Tax  Estimated Actual  Actual
Year Real Property Property Companies Property Assessed Value  Rate  Taxable Value Value
2009 851,771,930 379,017,958 21,525,590 (4,532,143) 1,247,783,335 0.47  1,251,537,949 99.7%
2010 995,258,975 369,782,703 22,357,578 (6,990,713) 1,380,408,543 0.47 1,377,653,237 100.2%
2011 1,027,885,319 358,562,377 20,777,547 (8,037,388) 1,399,187,855 0.47 1,396,931,471 100.2%
2012 1,101,391,678 400,790,237 20,894,610 (8,275,108) 1,514,801,417 0.47 1,481,995,824 102.2%
2013 1,138,480,584 417,965,044 22,126,189 (8,199,338) 1,570,372,479 0.47  1,489,959,352 105.4%
2014 1,163,814,338 476,296,137 22,343,241 (8,380,262) 1,654,073,454 0.47 1,574,895,032 105.0%
2015 1,171,969,829 498,060,858 22,232,490 (8,580,903) 1,683,682,274 0.49 1,603,949,005 105.0%
2016 1,215,674,661 511,076,370 23,926,263 (9,087,410) 1,741,589,884 0.49 1,648,732,865 105.6%
2017 1,355,230,856 550,037,154 20,701,422 (6,871,152) 1,919,098,280 0.49 1,919,559,215 100.0%
2018 1,519,215,965 576,423,148 21,265,042 (6,231,130) 2,110,673,025 0.47  2,165,774,122 97.5%
Sources:
Alamance County and Orange County Tax Departments.
Notes:
Assessed valuations are established by the Alamance County Board of Commissioners at 100% of estimated
market value. A revaluation of real property is required by the North Carolina General Statutes at least every
eight years. Property was last revalued in FY 2018.
Estimated actual taxable value is calculated using information provided in Alamance and Orange County's
Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (CAFRs).
Assessed Value of Property
(Including Tax-Exempt)
2,500,000,000
2,000,000,000
1,500,000,000
1,000,000,000
500,000,000
0
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M Real Property
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Years

(Rates are Per $100 of Assessed Value) Table 6
Direct Rate Overlapping Rates Combined Tax Rate
City of Alamance  Orange Alamance  Orange
Fiscal Year Mebane county™  county? County County
0.50 0.580 0.998 1.080 1.498
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.540 0.858 1.010 1.328
0.49 0.530 0.858 1.020 1.348
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.47 0.580 0.838 1.050 1.308

Sources:
™ Alamance County Tax Department.
@ Orange County Tax Department.

Notes:

Overlapping rates are the county government rates that apply to property owners within the City of Mebane.
The City of Mebane is located in both Alamance and Orange counties. Not all overlapping rates apply to al
property owners, but at least one County overlapping rates applies to each property owner.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Table 7

Taxpayer

GKN Automotive Components........cccceeerueeennneen.
Wal-Mart.. oo
Liggett Group - One Hundred Maple, LLC............

Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company).......cccceeveenennieenns
Tanger Piedmont, LLC........ccoecueviiriiennieenieneenne

Morinaga America Foods, INC........ccocuvvveriiennienne
SANAVIK, INCarrrrreiiiriiieee et

Gregory Poole Equipment Company........cc..cc......

Cambro Manufacturing Co.......cccceeeevvereerceennenne
Armacell LLC/Armstrong........ceceevverereeeeeseesreneens

Mebane Packaging / Meadwestvaco

Healthcare Packaging........cccceveeveenieneennennn.
Oakland/Fieldstone/Club Mill Creek....................
Mebane Apartments Associates.......c..ccoeeeruennee.
A.O. Smith Corporation.......c.cceeceerveeeiieenieeseenieenne
Madison River /Mebtel........cccouvvveveiiiiiiiiirenns

Source:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:

2018

2009

Percentage

Percentage

of Total of Total
Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Value Assessed Taxable Assessed
E Rank Value Assessed Value Rank Value
$ 104,366,138 1 4.94% $ 104,875,597 1 8.40%
75,885,653 2 3.60% 12,981,901 9 1.04%
74,641,045 3 3.54% 61,933,296 2 4.96%
46,747,189 4 2.21% @
43,879,241 5 2.08% @
35,843,403 6 1.70% @
35,135,527 7 1.66% 26,056,871 4 2.09%
28,322,036 8 1.34% @
25,649,645 9 1.22% @
24,941,923 10 1.18% 20,906,190 5 1.68%
@ 26,642,687 3 2.14%
@ 15,664,635 6 1.26%
@ 14,158,033 7 1.13%
@ 13,089,570 8 1.05%
@ 11,857,130 10 0.95%
$495,411,800 23.47% $308,165,910 24.70%

M Assessed valuation represents taxes assessed and due in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

@ Not within top ten ranking.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 8
Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
Taxes Levied Collections in
for the Fiscal Percentage Subsequent Percentage
Fiscal Year Year ¥ Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy
6,221,517 6,017,237 96.7% 86,892 6,104,129 98.1%
6,416,271 6,229,142 97.1% 196,787 6,425,929 100.2%
6,517,986 6,393,383 98.1% 180,789 6,574,172 100.9%
7,062,935 6,917,103 97.9% 117,216 7,034,319 99.6%
7,354,497 7,224,810 98.2% 139,590 7,364,400 100.1%
7,764,524 7,677,173 98.9% 122,725 7,799,898 100.5%
8,223,909 8,175,886 99.4% 80,551 8,256,437 100.4%
8,528,175 8,485,223 99.5% 105,709 8,590,932 100.7%
9,288,710 9,244,828 99.5% 67,369 9,312,197 100.3%
9,815,332 9,785,748 99.7% - 9,785,748 99.7%

Sources:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
™) Taxes levied for the fiscal year are not adjusted for discoveries in subsequent years but their collectior
is included in the total collections to date for the year in which they would have been levied.

Percentage of Levy
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98.0%
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94.0%
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=== Current Fiscal Year Collections === Total Collections to Date
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 9
Governmental
Activities Business-type Activities
General Percentage of
Installment Obligation  Installment Personal
Fiscal Year Financing(z) Bonds Financin_gﬂ Total Income Per Capita (1)
2009....ciiiiiieiiiieeee e 5,875,201 980,000 5,291,319 12,146,520 3.8% 1,061
2010.ccciiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeees 5,177,565 885,000 4,751,940 10,814,505 3.3% 945
2011 4,469,919 785,000 4,102,225 9,357,144 2.6% 804
X0 ) 7 Nt 3,856,669 680,000 3,437,758 7,974,427 2.0% 666
2013 i 3,430,002 570,000 2,758,161 6,758,163 1.7% 557
2014, 7,348,610 455,000 6,788,750 14,592,360 3.5% 1,180
2015..... 6,514,756 335,000 6,162,611 13,012,367 3.1% 1,032
2016..... 5,679,678 215,000 5,272,472 11,167,150 2.6% 874
2017..... . 11,141,683 95,000 4,869,335 16,106,018 3.6% 1,141
2018t 10,257,277 - 4,459,195 14,716,472 3.2% 983

Notes:
W see Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

@ Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Outstanding Debt Per Capita Outstanding Debt as a Percentage of
$1,400 Personal Income
4.5%
$1,200 4.0% \
B 3.5%
$1,000 \
3.0% I
$800 - - 2 cog I
$600 - 2.0%
$ 1.5%
400 -
1.0%
$200 - 0.5%
SO 0.0%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 10

Percentage of Actual

General Bonded Taxable Value of Per Capita Bonded

Fiscal Year Debt Property W Debt?

2009.....eeeieeieetietete ettt a b s renreseeens 980,000 0.08% 86
2000, 885,000 0.06% 77
2000ttt sttt nb e s resreens 785,000 0.06% 67
2002, 680,000 0.04% 57
2003 ettt st st st sreens 570,000 0.04% 47
2004 455,000 0.03% 37
2005 ettt ettt s resreens 335,000 0.02% 27
2006, 215,000 0.01% 17
2007 ittt nb e st saeens 95,000 0.00% 7
2018 0 0.00% -

W see Table 5 for Assessed Value of Taxable Property.

2 See Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

) Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Per Capita Bonded Debt Bonded Debt as a Percentage of Actual

Taxable Value of Property
$90

$80 -
0.1% —\
370 - 0.1%
$60 - 0.1% \
. (o]
$50 - 0.1% \
\
$40 - 0.0%

0.1%

$30 - 0.0%
Szo i 0.0%

- [
s10 - 0.0%
<0 0.0%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

As of June 30, 2018 Table 11
Estimated
Share of Direct
Estimated and
Debt Percentage  Qverlapping
Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable™ Debt

Alamance County general obligation debt..........ccecceevierciecierieeeceeee e,

Orange County general obligation debt..........cccceeeiiiiiiiiienciieciee e,

Subtotal, overlapping debt.........ccevireiiecieereee e

City of Mebane debt.....................
Total direct and overlapping debt

Sources:

S 53,226,932
71,185,000

11.56% S 6,153,033
1.94% 1,380,989

7,534,022
10,257,277

$ 17,791,299

Alamance and Orange County debt outstanding provided by Alamance and Orange Counties.

Notes:

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the

City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that

is borne by the residents and businesses of the City. This process recognizes that, when considering the

City's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and

businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident

and, therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government.

™ For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using

taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of

another governmental unit's taxable assessed value that is within the City of Mebane's boundaries and

dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value. Taxable assessed property values as of June 30,

2018 were used to determine the overlapping debt percentage.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 12

Total Net Debt

Legal Debt
Margin as a

Applicable to Legal Debt Percent of Debt
Fiscal Year Debt Limit Limit Margin Limit
99,822,667 12,393,747 87,428,920 87.6%
110,432,683 11,075,272 99,357,411 90.0%
111,935,028 9,660,046 102,274,982 91.4%
121,184,113 8,311,706 112,872,407 93.1%
125,629,798 7,112,016 118,517,782 94.3%
132,325,876 14,748,774 117,577,102 88.9%
134,694,582 13,012,364 121,682,218 90.3%
139,327,191 11,167,150 128,160,041 92.0%
153,527,862 16,106,018 137,421,844 89.5%
168,853,842 14,716,472 154,137,370 91.3%
Notes:
Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2018:
Assessed valuation.............. S 2,110,673,025
Statutory limit percentage 8.0%
Debt limit - 8.0% Of @SSESSEA VAIUE.......ccccuvreiieeeireiee ettt et eaaree e S 168,853,842
Gross debt:
Total boNdEd debl....c.eiiiiiieee e -
Authorized and UNISSUE DONAS........cceiriieieee e -
Lease fiNaNCING @BrEEMENTS......ccviieiieeecieee et e e ee et e s e see e saeesnseeteenseesneeenes 14,716,472
Qe =1 =4 o X3 1=Y o RN 14,716,472
Less: statutory deAUCIONS. ......coiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt e e sabe e e sae e e -
Total amount of debt applicable to debt limit (net debt).........ccccevvveriiieieiniecececeecee 14,716,472
LEEAl DBt IMIArEiN....ccueeueeueereieiereereeeeeeseeseseessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessassassessens $ 154,137,370
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years Table 13
Median
Personal Household Unemployment
Fiscal Year Population (1) Income ? Income Median A_ge_”’ Rate (5)
11,444 317,755,568 48,164 35.6 8.1%
11,446 331,334,588 50,000 34.5 7.9%
11,642 364,813,073 50,700 33.9 7.1%
11,965 390,349,988 * 51,675 35.4 6.5%
12,128 402,060,488 * 53,166 35.8 6.2%
12,366 414,122,302 * 52,586 35.8 * 6.3%
12,613 * 426,545,971 * 53,029 35.8 * 5.7%
12,774 * 435,076,890 * 53,029 35.8 * 4.7%
14,117 * 443,778,428 * 54,430 35.9 * 4.0%
14,973 * 457,091,781 * 56,037 35.8 * 4.0%

Note: Many of these data elements are not published annually for cities. Data is estimated using the
ratio of Mebane to Alamance County from the 2010 census and the 2005-2014 American Community
Survey. That ratio was applied back to annual county data to estimate the data for the City of Mebane.

Notes:
(1) Office of State Management and Budget, NC Department of Revenue
(2) U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
United States Census Bureau, Most recent available census data.
(3) American City Survey Fact Finder.
(4) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics
(4) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics

* Data not available - estimated based on trends.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 14
20181 20092)
Percentage of Percentage of
Total Total

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
[ PN 885 1 9.2% 500+ 1 5.2%
Walmart Distribution 586 2 6.1%
General EleCtriC.....uccvereerieeeee e 584 3 6.1% 250+ 4 2.6%
AKG of America.... 438 4 4.6% 250+ 5 2.6%
JAbil (NYPFO).eeeeeeeie et 400 5 4.2%
SPOrts ENAEAVOIS....cuvvieiiieeiieeciee e sveeeeiveeeene 300 6 3.1% 500+ 2 5.2%
Liggett Group LLC........coeiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e 265 7 2.8% 400+ 3 4.2%
ArmMACell. e 250 8 2.6%
MOFINAGA. ... eeeeeeeeiieeee e 129 9 1.3%
SANAVIC.c.vieiiiiieeieeeerte ettt 125 10 1.3%
West Rock (Meadwestvaco)........cccveeeeveeeenveeennen. * 250+ 6 2.6%
KiNGSAOWN...ccuviiiiiieeciie et * 200+ 3)
A.O. Smith Electrical Components..........cccccuvrvenee. * 200+ 3)
Walter Kidde......ooveeveinieeienienieeeereenee e * 200+ 3)
B.D. Disgnostics- Tripath.......cccccevvevrveriencieneenenn. * 200+ 3)
TOTAl et 3,962 41.3% 2950 22.4%

Sources:

(1) Human Resource Directors- Phone or Email

(2) Alamance County Area Chamber of Commerce data for closest year available
(3) Not available

* Not in top ten this year
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Full-time-Equivalent Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 15
Function / Department 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
General Government:
Mayor & City CoUNCil......ccoueeriveeeriieeiniieeenieenns 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
City Man@ger.....ccevvuveerieeeniieerieessveesseveesaneens 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
City ClerK...oouereieeeieeeie e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
FINANCE...uiiiiiieciee ettt 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0
Human ReSOUICES.........cevvivriiiieeeeniiieeeeeniies - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
TaxX ColleCtOr...civiiiiiiiiiee e 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 - -
City AtEOINEY..ceiviiie et 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Information Technology........ccccovvveeirvveennveennns - - - - - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Public BUIldiNgS.....cccoveeerieeiiieeiiieeniieesieeenns 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0
Public Safety:
Police Department......ccocceeevcveeivveeiiveesiveennns 240 26.0 30.0 30.0 31.0 31.0 32.0 35.0 35.5 40.0
Fire Department.....ccccceevceeeniieeenieesneeesineenans 140 15.0 15.0 16.0 16.0 16.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0
Economic and Physical Development:
PlanNiNg....cooviiiiiieiiee e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
INSPECLIONS..ciiiiieiiieeeieecre et 1.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 4.0
Public Works:
SErEEES. e iiii ettt 7.0 7.0 6.0 7.0 9.0 - - - - -
SaNItAtioN..coiiieeciiieee e 6.0 6.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
PUBIiC WOIKS....ciiviieiiieeiee e 5.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 13.0 12.0
Culture and Recreation:
RECreation.....cccccveevcieeniiieeriee e 5.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 7.0
Arts and Community Center.......ccccevcveeerveennns 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Water and Sewer:
Billing and Metering.......ccccovvveevieeeniveeeniinennnne 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Water distribution and maintenance.............. 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Waste Collection and Treatment:
Pretreatment - industrial monitoring.............. 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Wastewater Treatment Plant..........ccccveenneen. 4.0 4.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Laboratory...cccceeeveeiniieciec e 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Sewer mains and lift stations...........cccceecuveenee. 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
B (] 7 1 RN 925 97,5 1055 106.5 109.5 1105 1225 1285 131.0 136.5
Sources:
City of Mebane staff
Notes:

A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).

Full-time-equivalent employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Operating Indicators by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 16
Function 2009  2010* 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
General Government
Finance Department
Vendor checks iSSUEM........c.c.cveerureriniececieieinenenenas 2,423 2,509 1,545 2,675 3,003 2,952 3,029 3,095 3,104 3,299
Human Resources
Workers' compensation lost time (days)............ 4 - 2 155 52 122 - - - -
Employee turnover rate..........ccceceererirrrierereeenes 9% 8% 6% 3% 7% 3% 5% 9% 5% 9%
Public Safety
Fire Protection
Incident calls 1,841 1,775 873 1,812 732 823 773 840 909 918
Structure fires... 80 67 37 168 303 211 15 19 26 34
INSPECLIONS....vvveveeeeieieretereee et 121 1,009 442 103 177 190 186 394 363 250
Child passenger seat inspections............cc.uveeunee 105 157 49 197 242 191 154 204 193 237
Police Protection
Physical arrests 459 457 240 552 653 568 501 377 438 482
Citations issued.... 960 544 1,073 1,489 1,226 1,028 926 1,585 1,522
Response to calls/officer initiated activity.......... 9,672 8,470 5,625 13,163 15,363 14,942 14,685 16,968 16,363 1,722
Traffic aCCIdENES....cveveicicieieirecee e 428 471 198 593 583 528 491 620 790 628
Public Works
Street resurfacing (miles) 0.85 1.20 1.48 3.19 0.54 2.67 1.48 1.48 1.51 1.32
Refuse collected (tons annually).. 3,072 3,126 NA 3,200 3,267 3,390 3,585 3,880 4,073 4,278
Homes receiving service 4,031 4,088 NA 4,581 4,522 3,965 4,756 4,527 4,717 5,354
Recyclables collected (tons annually) 707 724 NA 946 1,063 1,112 1,100 841 862 864
Economic & Physical Development
Inspections
Residential inspections conducted..................... 2,648 3,549 2,722 3,247 3,460 5,914 5,212 6,477 7,348 4,765
Commercial inspections conducted...........c........ 883 1,001 724 490 332 785 1,462 8,499 9,710 5,449
Total inspections conducted..............ccccvevevunnne 3,531 4,550 3,446 3,737 3,792 6,699 6,674 14,976 17,058 10,214
Certificates of occupancy issued... 171 171 74 136 125 131 154 166 216 102
Building permits issued 1,195 1,771 455 245 277 228 155 191 143 171
Cultural & Recreation
Recreation
Athletics participants........c.ccoveeeernininicenennnns 2,909 NA NA 2,458 3,140 2,693 2,653 2,744 2,679 2,679
Water Distribution
ACCOUNTS.....vviiieiiertsitticie et eaenns 3,905 4,007 4,174 4,302 4,454 4,566 4,744 4,934 5,227 5,471
Average daily consumption (mgd).......ccccceevrvrurnnnn 1.161 1.257 1.321 1.150 1.290 1.350 1.400 1.510 1.880 1.760
Wastewater Treatment
ACCOUNTS ...ttt 3,546 3,674 3,836 3,974 4,125 4,263 4,424 4,587 4,898 5,034
Average daily treatment (Mgd).......cccevvvvrrrerrererenen 1.120 1.093 1.082 1.000 1.100 1.340 1.202 1.359 1.373 1.290
Sources:

Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
*All years prior to 2011 were based on calendar year data
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Capital Asset Statistics by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 17
Function 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Public Safety
Fire Protection
Stations...coooei e 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3
Fire trucks.....occeevveevennieenienieeieeseeee, 12 12 11 12 12 13 13 13 13 13
Police Protection
SEAtiONS.c.eveieieeeec e 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units.......cccoeeeeeeeeeiiee e 19 22 27 30 32 32 30 29 31 39
Public Works
Miles of streets.......cccoeeeeiieeecieeecieeens 48.0 48.8 50.4 51.0 52.2 52.4 54.0 54.3 54.7 56.6
Maintenance vehicles.................. . NA 93 93 58 56 56 58 58 51 45
Miles of sidewalks (linear feet)............. NA 25.3 38.2 42.9 43.0 43.0 50.1 50.8 54.2 55.3
Refuse collection trucks.........ccceevueenne. NA 6 6 5 5 6 6 6 6 6
Cultural & Recreation
Number of parks ......cccceeeveevcieeciinenns 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7
Park acreage......cccoceeveveceeseesieeceesenns 275 275 275 275 275 275 275 275 308 308
Trails (Miles)....ccveecreeveeeieeiecreeereeceees 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Playgrounds........cccecvevveeeeeeneenieeceeneen, 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 3
Baseball/softball diamonds................... 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Soccer fields.......cooovveeeiieeceeceieee 8 8 8 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Water and Sewer
Miles of gravity sewer lines................... NA 82 81.8 88.1 88.7 89.1 94.3 97.8 98.6 100.1
Miles of water lines.......ccoceeveervereenne. NA 92 91.6 100.1 103.1 1046 111.3 1113 1149 117.2
Miles of sewer force mains...........c....... NA 17 16.5 17.3 18.7 18.5 18.3 21.9 18.3 18.5

Miles of storm sewer NA 56 55.9 57.0 57.0 57.6 58.5 61.1 61.8 64.9

Source:
Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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Compliance Section

This section contains compliance reports for the City’s
Governmental Compliance.

e Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards

e Report on Compliance With Requirements
Applicable to Each Major State Program and
Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance
With the Uniform Guidance and the State Single
Audit Implementation Act

e Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs,
Corrective Action Plans and Summary Schedules
of Prior Audit Findings

e Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State
Awards
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United State of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the City of
Mebane's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated October
31, 2018.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Mebane's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting was for the limited
purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify
all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Mebane’s financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueer M%owea £ 06, LLP

October 31, 2018
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO EACH
MAIJOR STATE PROGRAM AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE AND THE STATE
SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION ACT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program

We have audited City of Mebane, North Carolina, compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the Audit Manual for Governmental Auditors in
North Carolina, issued by the Local Government Commission, that could have a direct
and material effect on each of the City of Mebane’s major state programs for the year
ended June 30, 2018. The City of Mebane’s major State programs are identified in the
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts and grants applicable to its state programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of
Mebane’s major state programs based on our audit of the types of compliance
requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and applicable sections of Title 2 US Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), as described in the
Audit Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, and the State Single Audit
Implementation Act. Those standards, Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit
Implementation Act require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major State program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of
Mebane’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures, as
we considered necessary in the circumstances.
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
state program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on the City of Mebane’s
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major State Program

In our opinion, the City of Mebane complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major State
programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the City of Mebane is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Mebane’s internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major state
program in order to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance for each major state program and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our

testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueet M%owen € K06, LLP

October 31, 2018
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes X None Reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted Yes X No

State Awards
Internal control over major State programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes X None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major State programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with State Single Audit
Implementation Act Yes X No

Identification of major State Programs:

Program Name

Powell Bill
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Section II. Financial Statement Findings

None reported.

Section III. State Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None reported.
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

None Reported
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For The Year Ended June 30, 2018

State/ Federal
Federal Pass-through  (Direct and Passed
Grantor/Pass-through CFDA Grantor's  Pass-through) State Through to
Grantor/Program Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Subrecipient
Federal Awards:
Cash Programs:
U.S. Dept. of Justice
Direct Program:
Federal Equitable Sharing Funds 16.922 na S 150,169 $ - S -
Total assistance - federal programs 150,169 - -
Cash Assistance:
N.C. Department of Transportation:
POWell Bill...cooeveeiieeieeeieeeiece e, na 2000001817 - 343,853 -
N.C. Department of Commerce:
ONe NCFUNd oo na - 182,500 182,500
Total assistance - state programs.................. - 526,353 182,500
Total @sSiStanCe....c.veeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e S 150,169 $§ 526,353 S§ 182,500

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards:

1. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and State awards (SEFSA) includes the federal and State grant
activity of the City of Mebane under the programs of the federal government and the State of North Carolina for the
year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this SEFSA is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 US
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost principles, and Audit Requirements
for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Because the Schedule presents only a selected
portion of the operations of the City of Mebane , it is not intended to and does not present the financial position,
changes in net position, or cash flows of the City of Mebane.

2. Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contained in Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not
allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

City of Mebane has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.
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